StartClim2006

Climate Change and Health, Tourism, Energy

Final Report



Oesterreichische NATIONALBANK







July 2007

StartClim2006

Climate Change and Health, Tourism and Energy

Final Report

Project Leader

Institute of Meteorology Department of Water-Atmosphere-Environment BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences, Vienna Univ.-Prof. Dr. Helga Kromp-Kolb.

Contracting Parties

Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management Austrian Federal Ministry for Health, Family and Youth (formerly BMGF) Austrian Ministry for Economics and Labour Austrian Federal Ministry for Science and Research (formerly BMBWK) Österreichische Nationalbank Austrian Hail Insurance Federal Environment Agency Verbund AHP

Administrative Coordination

Federal Environment Agency

Vienna, July 2007

StartClim2006 "Climate Change and Health, Tourism and Energy"

Project Leader: Institute of Meteorology Department of Water-Atmosphere-Environment BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences, Vienna Peter Jordan Straße 82, 1190 Wien URL: http://www.austroclim.at/startclim/ http://www.wau.boku.ac.at/met.html

Editors

Helga Kromp-Kolb and Ingeborg Schwarzl Institute of Meteorology Department of Water-Atmosphere-Environment BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences

Vienna, July 2007

Contributions to StartClim2006

StartClim2006.A: Particulate matter and climate change – Are there connections between them in north-eastern Austria?

Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Bernd C. Krüger, Irene Schicker, Herbert Formayer Medical University of Vienna, Centre for Public Health, Institute of Environmental Hygiene Hanns Moshammer

StartClim2006.B: Risk Profile for the autochthonous occurrence of Leishmania infections in Austria Medical University of Vienna Horst Aspöck, Julia Walchnik Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Thomas Gerersdorfer, Herbert Formayer

StartClim2006.C: Effects of climate change on the dispersion of white grub damages in the Austrian grassland

Bio Forschung Austria Eva Maria Grünbacher, Patrick Hann, Claus Trska, Bernhard Kromp Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Herbert Formayer

StartClim2006.D1: Sensitivity of Austrian summer tourism to climate change

Institut für touristische Raumplanung Volker Fleischhacker Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Herbert Formayer

StartClim2006.D2: Effects of climate change on the climatic potential of tourism

Institute of Meteorology, University of Freiburg Andreas Matzarakis, Christina Endler, Robert Neumcke Central Institute of Meteorology and Geodynamics Elisabeth Koch, Ernest Rudel

StartClim2006.D3: See-Vision: Influence of climate change-induced fluctuation of water level in Lake NeusiedI on the perception and behaviour of visitors and locals

Institute of Landscape Development, Recreation and Conservation Planning, BOKU Ulrike Pröbstl, Alexandra Jiricka, Thomas Schauppenlehner Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, Canada Wolfgang Haider

StartClim2006.F: Climate change impacts on energy use for space heating and cooling in Austria

Institute of Technology and Regional Policy, Joanneum Research (1); Wegener Center for Climate and Global Change, University of Graz (2); Institute for Geophysics, Astrophysics and Meteorology, University of Graz (3); Institute for Meteorology and Geophysics, University of Vienna (4); Institute of Energy Research, Joanneum Research (5) Franz Prettenthaler^{1,2}, Andreas Gobiet^{2,3}, Clemens Habsburg-Lothringen¹, Reinhold Steinacker⁴, Christoph Töglhofer², Andreas Türk ^{2,5}

Scientific Board

Dr. Gerhard Berz, formerly Münchener Rückversicherung

Dr. Jill Jäger, Sustainable Europe Research Institute (SERI)

Coordinating Group

Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management

Elfriede Fuhrmann, Helmut Hojesky, Birgit Kaiserreiner, Barbara Kronberger-Kießwetter, Florian Rudolf-Miklau, Heinz Stiefelmeyer, Stefan Vetter, Werner Glantschnig

Austrian Federal Ministry for Health, Family and Youth (formerly BMGF) Ulrich Herzog, Fritz Wagner, Robert Schlögel

Austrian Federal Ministry for Science and Research (formerly BMBWK) Martin Smejkal, Christian Smoliner

Austrian Ministry for Economics and Labour Eva Dolak, Herwig Dürr, Elisabeth Kasal, Monika Wallergraber

Austrian Hail Insurance Stefan Oitzl, Kurt Weinberger, Claudia Riedl

Österreichische Nationalbank Johann Jachs, Martin Much

Federal Environment Agency Karl Kienzl, Sepp Hackl, Maria Balas

Verbund AHP Otto Pirker, Bertram Weiss

Administrative Project Coordination

Federal Environment Agency Maria Balas, Sepp Hackl, Karl Kienzl

Table of Contents

Abstract		- 6
1	The Research Programme StartClim	11
1.1	StartClim2006	11
1.2	Structure of this report	11
1.3	Organisational aspects of StartClim2006	12
2	Climate Change, Health and Energy	13
2.1	StartClim2006.B: Risk profile for the autochthonous occurrence of Leishmania infections in Austria	13
2.2	StartClim2006.C: Effects of climate change on the dispersion of white grub damages in Austrian grasslands	16
2.3	StartClim2006.A: Particulate matter and climate change – Are there connections between them in north-eastern Austria?	18
2.4	StartClim2006.F: Impacts of climate change on energy use for space heating and cooling in Austria	g 20
3	Climate Change and Tourism2	23
3.1	Startclim2006.D2: Effects of climate change on the climatic potential for tourism	23
3.2	StartClim2006.D1: The sensitivity of Austrian summer tourism for climate change	25
3.3	StartClim2006.D3: See-Vision: Influence of climate change-induced fluctuation of water level in Lake NeusiedI on the perception and behaviour of visitors and locals 2	29
Referenc	es	32
Figures a	and Tables	48
Annex		50

Abstract

StartClim2006 covered a series of different topics: StartClim studies in the last few years have shown that fundamental changes in animal habitats related to climate change are to be expected. These changes will have consequences on human health as well as on agricultural crops. In StartClim2006 two studies addressed this topic: one analysed leishmaniosis and its transmitters, the other the increasing occurrence of white grubs in grassland. Changes in aerosol concentrations, especially particulate matter, in the context of climate change as studied in another subproject could also influence human health. The expected average future demand for heating and cooling impressively shows another aspect of climate change on summer tourism.

Sand flies and leishmania

Leishmaniae (genus *Leishmania* comprising several species/strains) are protozoan parasites which multiply intracellularly in various organs of many vertebrates including humans, thus causing serious diseases. About 12 million people are infected with *Leishmania* worldwide, at least 60,000 die of leishmaniosis every year. The occurrence of *Leishmania* is linked with the occurrence of sandflies (Phlebotominae) that take up the parasites during a blood meal and transmit them to another vertebrate host during the next blood meal. For a long time it was thought that in Europe sandflies only occur in Mediterranean countries (and sporadically in some regions with favourable climatic conditions in Western and Eastern extramediterranean parts of Europe). However, in recent years sandflies have been detected in several parts of central Europe, particularly in Germany; it cannot be excluded that some parts of these distributional patterns are due to warming of the climate. The aim of the project was to collect and characterise all known records of sandflies in central Europe on the basis of climatological parameters in order to identify those regions in Austria, in which the occurrence of sandflies might be possible or even probable and to assess the risk of an autochthonous transmission of *Leishmania* in Austria.

In central Europe and the adjacent extra-mediterranean regions six sandfly species have been reported so far (however, only four can be regarded as confirmed). A comparison of the climatological parameters of all locations has led to the conclusion that temperature is the determining parameter for occurrence. At present, the derived July and January temperature criteria are not constantly fulfilled for any of these species, however, an increase of the temperatures of less than 1°C would lead to conditions suitable for sandflies in many regions of Austria, in particular the Rhine valley, the Danube valley, the eastern parts of the province of Burgenland, and regions bordering Slovenia. Species that might be expected to have been or to become established in Austria are *Phlebotomus mascittii* in the west and *Ph. neglectus* (and *Ph. Perfiliewi*) in the east of Austria.

White grubs damage

In the Austrian cultivated grassland, mainly soil-dwelling grubs of the cockchafer (*Melolontha melolontha*), the june beetle (*Amphimallon solstitiale*) and the garden chafer (*Phyllopertha horticola*) are of interest.

A total area of 14,800 hectares of damaged fields, mainly in cultivated grassland, was estimated in Austria based on interviews with plant protection consultants of the Agricultural Chambers and a questionnaire sent to 74 county agricultural chambers. From the year 2000 onwards, a steady increase of white grub damages occurred, with a climax in the year 2003 that is characterized by heat waves and drought. The infested fields extended along the main alpine ridge from Vorarlberg up to the alpine foreland. Furthermore, southern slopes of the Danube valley in Upper and Lower Austria were affected. The massive occurrence of white grubs is mainly due to the garden chafer that dominates in these regions and damages exposed southern slopes of grassland. From 2004 to 2006, the extent of damages decreased in Austria. It appears that the damaged areas were mainly situated in regions with strong precipitation deficits. On-farm investigations performed in 2007 strengthen the hypothesis that drought and elevated soil temperatures might be the decisive factors for optimized development of grub populations and subsequent feeding damages. Drought can additionally increase the effects of grub damage by delaying the regeneration of the damaged sward. Strongly damaged sward on slopes can cause slipping of farm machines and thus endanger farm workers.

To develop and implement a grub warning service it is essential to further test the identified parameters for their effect on the beetles and grubs, respectively, and subsequently quantify them. The implementation of a reliable risk forecast system requires accurate knowledge of the distribution of grub species as well as their ecological demands, mainly concerning soil parameters.

Aerosols

Air pollutants and aerosols in particular pose a threat to health. Concentrations prevailing at present have a clear effect on the daily variation of health indicators like the daily mortality (due to cardiovascular and respiratory diseases), hospital admissions and respiratory symptoms. Atmospheric conditions have a strong influence on atmospheric pollution. In north-eastern Austria the highest concentrations of particulate matter are found in winter and most frequently in high pressure regimes, with low mixing height as a precondition.

From climate scenario calculations for the future it is predicted that periods of low mixing height, typical for winter, may become shorter and therefore particulate matter may be better diluted. However, at the same time changes in emissions (less need of energy for heating, more for cooling) due to climate change and reductions due to technical development have to be taken into account.

The interaction between meteorological conditions and air pollutants with respect to their effect on health is extremely complex and must be investigated in more detail.

Heating and cooling degree days and energy demand

Using high resolution climate scenarios for Austria (20X20 km grid) for the period 2041-50 the changes of the heating and cooling degree days were calculated in comparison to 1981-90 as the base period. This data was combined with a data set describing the Austrian buildings and their heating systems in order to calculate the total and usable energy demands of different types of buildings on a regional scale as well as for the whole country.



Fig: Heating and cooling degree days: Expected changes in Vienna, 200 m a.s.l., (left) and Lienz , 673 m a.s.l. (right)

The results show a climate-induced decrease of 20 per cent of the average demand for heating in the period 2041-2050 compared to the base period 1981-1990. This equals a decrease in final energy demand of 10,800 gigawatt hours (GWh) for the current Austrian building stock. This average decrease of space heating demand is larger in the cooler alpine regions. Cooling degree days increase, especially in the lowlands.

While in higher regions heating degree days drop by a ration of 1:5 (400m) to 1:20 (900m) per additional cooling degree day, this relationship is 1:4 at 300 meters, 1:3 at 200 meters, and only 1:2 at 100 meters. Climate change in the period 2041-50 can be described as a sea level shift in heating as well as cooling degree days of approximately 300 meters.

Summer tourism

Weather and climate as well as topographical and orographical conditions, vegetation and fauna play a prominent role in tourism and leisure facilities; they are limiting and controlling factors. Therefore climate change can have considerable consequences on winter as well as summer tourism in Austria. Additionally, a large number of other factors play a significant role for tourism: the weather conditions at home and the (weather) experience of the last holidays, the variety of possible activities, advertisement and prices. None of the three StartClim studies could take all the influencing factors into account. In one case the focus was set on the variability of weather and climate conditions of specific destination areas, in the other case the focus was on a subjective assessment of the climate sensitivity of diverse types of holidays; the third studied the influence of visual impressions of the landscape on tourism.



Fig: CTIS (Climate Tourism Information Scheme) –Diagram (in %) for Vienna visualising the percentage of days of each month when climate conditions are favourable for different parameters influencing summer tourism based on the A1B-climate scenario for the period 1961 – 1990 (above) and 2021 – 2050 (below).

An analysis of meteorological and climatological parameters based on climate scenarios for 1961 - 2050 calculated by the Max-Planck-Institute for Meteorology in Hamburg shows that an extension of the pre- and post-tourism season and the period of thermal acceptability for recreation and leisure can be expected in Austria for the period 2021-50. This positive development is counteracted by a) an increase in the frequency and intensity of heat stress (PET-conditions), b) an increase of sultry days in areas below 1000 m in elevation and c) a slight increase of days with long rainfall events (RR > 5 mm), which cannot be compensated by the decrease of the number of days with light or no rain.

A special diagram (CTIS (Climate Tourism Information Scheme) -Diagram) visualises the percentage of days during each month when climate conditions are favourable for summer tourism and comparison of the diagrams for different periods indicates the expected changes.

Over night stays in Austrian summer tourism is attributed to the market segments: city tourism, congress tourism, spa/health tourism, holidays in climatic spas, lake tourism, Danube tourism, tourism in natural sanctuaries, tourism along the traditional wine routes, and countryside holidays or alpine/mountain tourism. Depending on different demands for "natural quality criteria", such as landscape/nature and weather/climate, and different ranges of nature-consuming outdoor activities, each market segment is affected by climate changes to varying degrees.

A first subjective estimate based on long time expertise, of the effect of climate change on the market segments shows that mainly alpine tourism, lake tourism and Danube tourism could be affected by climate change scenarios as it is described by the research project "reclip:more", whereas congress tourism, city tourism and health tourism are expected to be affected to a lesser extent. In contrast to winter tourism, positive effects were especially identified for the sensitive segments; lake tourism might profit the most. The two lake-region examples show that for a 2050 scenario the rise in temperature leads to an approximate 40% increase in "summer days", to a more than doubling of "heat days" and a reduction of "cool days" by half. Furthermore, the bathing season/suitability would stretch over approximately four months and therefore would increase the profitability (utilised capacity) of summer tourism.



Fig: First Assessment of the sensitivity and effect of climate change on the market segments of Austrian summer tourism. The characteristic positions of the individual market segments within this portfolio analysis result from the average scores of the evaluated dimensions "sensitivity" (0.6 to 2.86) and "effect of climate change" (-0.2 to 2.4). Different sizes of the portfolio squares result from derived threshold values of the sensitivity and effect stages. The three different sizes of market segments reflect their diverse importance and the number of over night stays of the individual respectively.

A completely different approach was selected for the project "see-vision" that analysed the effects of climate change on the perception and behaviour of visitors to Lake Neusiedl in Burgenland, Austria. Visitors were surveyed in a questionnaire, which also contained a discrete choice experiment with varying water levels depicted visually. This method is particularly well suited to explore demand and visitor reaction to currently non-existent scenarios.

The choice experiment revealed divergent preferences between weekend visitors and vacationers. Weekend visitors are mostly interested in the various sports activities and associated infrastructure (i.e. swimming in the lake and a pool), while longer term vacationers are attracted mostly by landscape related attributes of water level and nature experiences; for them, cultural and wine experiences are the most important additional attractions.

The results show that the effect of water levels also depends on the type of landscape (i.e. shoreline with reeds, open shoreline, artificial beach with gravel). Visitors who are interested in nature react more strongly to water level changes.

The responses provide the following insights regarding methods of adaptation:

- Most long-term vacationers were not affected by limited swimming opportunities in the lake, as long as the image conveys a natural environment. Therefore, limited swimming opportunities can be compensated with pools. Day- and weekend visitors react differently; they are less content with the compensation of swimming in the lake with the availability of pools.
- Significant potential for adaptation was shown by long-term visitors, as they consider the natural environment, as well as cultural events and wine events as the most important product components, which can partly compensate for losses in recreation opportunities due to low water levels.
- The infrastructure for upscale sports activities such as horseback riding and golf are only of importance for a small segment of users, and are considered to be insignificant by the large majority of visitors.
- The hypothesis that more information about the natural environment of the lake and the natural fluctuations of water level increases the acceptance of water level fluctuations was not confirmed.

MEDEA (meteorological extreme event data information system for the eastern alpine region)

The data base MEDEA (meteorological extreme event data information system for the eastern alpine region) was further refined in StartClim2006 and will be filled with StartClim data in a next step. MEDEA shall serve as an archive for data created within StartClim projects in years to come. It will also allow integrated analyses of diverse data.

1 The Research Programme StartClim

The climate research programme StartClim was implemented in 2002 following extensive floods in Austria based on an initiative of the Austrian Federal Minister of Environment. StartClim developed into a research programme for new topics concerning climate and climate change, analysed from different points of view and by different scientific disciplines. Results achieved so far demonstrate that substantial research work on climate, climate change and its impacts in Austria is essential. The large numbers of approximately 80 Austrian scientists and more than 30 Austrian institutions participating in StartClim show that the required know-how is available in Austria and is still growing.

StartClim is financed by a donor consortium presently consisting of eight institutions. In a coordinating group the donors together with the scientific project leader develop the topics of research. An international advisory board reviews project applications and final reports. The administrative tasks are carried out by the Austrian Federal Environment Agency. The scientific responsibility lies with the Institute of Meteorology, Department of Water-Atmosphere-Environment, BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Vienna.

New topics initiated in StartClim cannot be studied in depth within StartClim due to limited funding. StartClim research projects are therefore intended to subsequently be carried farther in the framework of normal research funding or as studies commissioned by interested stake-holders.

Working on new topics gives young researchers the opportunity to start their research work within the frame of StartClim.

Finally, StartClim jointly offers added value to donors financing the programme. Each donor profits from the joint administration and quality control. Furthermore synergies between projects and institutions have proven very useful.

1.1 StartClim2006

The main topics of StartClim2006 were effects of climate change on health, tourism and energy.

StartClim analyses of the last few years showed that fundamental changes in animal and plant habitats relating to climate change are to be expected. Those changes will have consequences on human health as well as on agricultural crops. In StartClim2006, two analyses addressed those topics: one analysed leishmaniosis and its transmitters, the other an increasing occurrence of white grubs in grassland. Another subproject dealing with human health analysed aerosols, especially particulate matter in the context of climate change. One project studied the changes in average demand for heating and cooling. Three subprojects analysed different aspects of the influence of climate change on summer tourism.

The data base MEDEA was extended and improved in StartClim2006, which will be documented in a separate report.

1.2 Structure of this report

The StartClim2006 report consists of an overview of the results in both German and English along with (separately bound) documentation in German in which the individual projects are described in detail by the respective project teams. All reports are published as a CD as well. A short summary will be published as a brochure. All reports and documents about StartClim2006 will be made available for download at http://www.austroclim.at/startclim/, the StartClim webpage.

1.3 Organisational aspects of StartClim2006

The organisational structure of StartClim2006 was similar to that of former StartClim phases. StartClim2006 consists of seven subprojects that encompass 33 people from 12 different institutions, representing far more than the 40 months of scientific work calculated in the project proposals. The breakdown of participating scientists reveals 13 female contributors and 15 contributors less than 35 years of age.

In order to promote scientific exchange between the individual subprojects, two workshops were held with members of the scientific board participating. All scientists were invited to present the results of their ongoing work and to discuss linkages between the subprojects.

The information and data exchange within the StartClim community was again supported by the FTP server and the StartClim webpage (http://www.austroclim.at/startclim/) at the Institute for Meteorology of the BOKU University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences, Vienna.

As in the years before, Mag^a. Ingeborg Schwarzl provided support and help in administrative matters to the scientific co-ordinator and to scientists involved in the subprojects.

2 Climate Change, Health and Energy

2.1 StartClim2006.B: Risk profile for the autochthonous occurrence of Leishmania infections in Austria

Leishmaniae (genus *Leishmania* of the family Trypanosomatidae [Euglenozoa: Kinetoplastida]) are Protozoa (and thus unicellular eukaryotic microorganisms) that circulate between sandflies (Diptera: Psychodidae: Phlebotominae) on one hand, and the many vertebrate species on which the sandflies suck blood, on the other hand. In the vertebrate hosts they are intracellular parasites, they multiply in various organs and, depending on the location, may lead to various and sometimes also very serious diseases. Humans, too, may become infected and may develop a life-threatening disease. It is estimated that about 12 million people are infected with *Leishmania* world-wide and that at least 60,000 people die of a leishmaniosis every year.

The natural occurrence of *Leishmania* is linked with the occurrence of sandflies. So far about 800 species of Phlebotominae have been described, of which at least 23 occur in Europe, and most of them are confirmed or suspected vectors of *Leishmania*. For a long time the general opinion was that sandflies only occur in the Mediterranean countries of Europe and sporadically in some areas of Western as well as Eastern Europe with climatically favourable conditions. In recent years, however, cases of human leishmaniosis were increasingly found in various extra-mediterranean parts of Europe in which an infestation in a Mediterranean country as well as a non-vector infection could (largely) be excluded. Finally, the occurrence of sandflies has been detected in central Europe, particularly in Germany. It is possible that there are – at least in part – causal connections with climatic changes.

There can be no doubt that those areas in central Europe where sandflies occur – at least presently – are very small and of focal character. With respect to the fact that visceral leishmaniosis (a form of the disease in which inner organs are afflicted) is a very grave disease, which may become increasingly established in central Europe, it appears important, if not imperative, to localize such potential foci on the basis of establishing the determining climatic parameters. So far, there are no records of sandflies in Austria.

The aim of this project was to collect the exact data of all records of sandflies in central Europe and the adjacent extra-mediterranean areas and compare their climatic parameters in order to detect those areas in Austria in which sandflies might occur. Moreover, the geographic and epidemiological data of all described autochthonous or possibly autochthonous cases of leishmaniosis in central Europe should be identified and correlated with climate data. Finally, separate maps should be provided – for each sandfly species which principally and for biogeographical reasons might be taken into consideration as possibly occurring in Austria – and those regions in which the necessary climatic criteria would be fulfilled, should be indicated.

First, a list of all published or otherwise available records of sandflies of central Europe (and adjacent regions) arranged according to species and countries was provided. Subsequently the exact geographical data correlating the single records were identified, and based on these data a climatological profile of each location, including all available parameters, was established. Profiles of the single locations were compared, and for each of the six sandfly species the limiting climatic parameters were found. Using the climate data available for Austria, attempts were made to determine where and under which conditions an occurrence of sandflies would principally appear to be possible. Finally, these data were compiled in risk maps.

In central Europe, adult sandflies are active from July to September. They are markedly stenotopic (i.e. confined to extremely small areas) and show a radius of activity of only few hundred meters. Hibernation takes place in the 4th larval instar. Almost all central European

records of sandflies are from human dwellings or the near vicinity, mainly from cellars, stables, barns or sheds.

The evaluation of all available records of sandflies in central Europe has revealed that six species have been reported so far: Phlebotomus mascittii (Belgium, Southwest Germany, France, Switzerland), Ph. perniciosus (Germany, England, Northern Italy, Switzerland), Ph. neglectus (Italy, Hungary), Ph. papatasi (France, Italy, Switzerland, Hungary), Ph. perfiliewi (Italy, Hungary), Sergentomyia minuta (Switzerland, Italy). From these, the records of Ph. perfiliewi and of Ph. papatasi are - at least largely - probably based on incorrect identifications. S. minuta is a parasite of reptiles and does not transmit Leishmania to humans. Thus, three species of medical relevance (Ph. mascittii, Ph. perniciosus, and Ph. neglectus) remain undoubted elements of the central European fauna. While these species show a remarkable tolerance with respect to precipitation and humidity, their occurrence appears to be determined by the temperatures during summer on one hand and during winter on the other hand. The spectra of temperature tolerance of the six species are, however, different. Only three of the six species listed above (including Ph. perfiliewi) have been found in locations in which the climatic profiles are similar to those of certain regions in Austria, namely Ph. mascittii, Ph. neglectus, and Ph. perfiliewi. For Ph. mascittii, an indispensable average July temperature of at least 18°C and an average January temperature of at least 0°C was found. For both, Ph. neglectus, and Ph. perfiliewi, the lower limits of monthly mean temperature were 20.7°C in July and -2°C in January, respectively.

While the necessary July temperature for the occurrence of *Ph. mascittii* is fulfilled in large parts of the Austrian lowlands, the tolerated January temperature is not constantly reached. However, in the case of an increase of temperature of less than 1°C, sufficient conditions for *Ph. mascittii* would be reached in numerous regions, namely in the Rhine valley, the Danube valley, the eastern parts of the province of Burgenland and parts of the frontier area to Slovenia. Even in the case of a temperature rise of 0.5°C, several regions would focally fulfil the ecological criteria for the occurrence of *Ph. mascittii* (see Fig. 1).

For *Ph. neglectus* and *Ph. perfiliewi* the necessary January temperature is fulfilled in almost all parts of Austria outside the Alps, the necessary July temperature is, however, not (yet) reached in Austria. Again, in case of a rise of the temperature of less than 1°C, suitable conditions for these species would be reached (Fig. 2).

Taking biogeographical as well as ecological and, in particular, climatoogical factors into consideration, in the future (if not sporadically already at present), *Ph. mascittii* can be expected in western Austria and *Ph. neglectus* and *Ph. perfiliewi* in the east.

Ph. neglectus and *Ph. perfiliewi* are confirmed vectors of *Leishmania*, most probably; however, *Ph. mascittii* can also transmit the parasite. It is of interest that the three published cases of possibly autochthonous leishmaniosis in Austria occurred in regions which lie within the calculated areas, particularly for *Ph. neglectus* (and *Ph. perfiliewi*).

Leishmaniosae are very likely to be among those infectious diseases which will – in the course of global warming – become (further) established in central Europe with a growing distribution. Due to the fact that no vaccine is available, prophylactic measures must focus on minimizing the risk of infection. An essential precondition is the localization of areas of possible occurrence of sandflies in order to perform effective control measures in time.



Fig. 1: Monthly mean temperature thresholds in Austria (1971-2000). Temperature criteria for *Phlebotomus mascittii*: at least 18°C July mean and at least 0°C January mean.



Fig. 2: Monthly mean temperature thresholds in Austria (1971-2000). Temperature criteria for *Phlebotomus neglectus* and *Phlebotomus perfiliewi*: at least 20.7°C July mean and –2°C January mean. Potential autochthonous cases of leishmaniosis were found on places marked in green.

2.2 StartClim2006.C: Effects of climate change on the dispersion of white grub damages in Austrian grasslands

In the last few years, significant damages to Austrian cultivated grassland were caused by soil-dwelling grubs of the cockchafer (*Melolontha melolontha*), the june beetle (*Amphimallon solstitiale*) and the garden chafer (*Phyllopertha horticola;* Scarabaeidae, Coleoptera). In this project, interrelationships between grub damages and climate data as well as site and soil parameters were investigated as the basis for a risk forecasting system suitable in practice.

From the available literature on the biology of the above mentioned species, it was derived that climatic conditions could be a main factor responsible for the occurrence of large populations of white grubs and their feeding damages to the grass roots. Suitable soil conditions are a precondition to enable a mass development of grub populations. However, contradictory conditions are described in the literature: warm, dry and moderately water permeable soils on the one hand and deep and nutrient-rich soils on the other.

By interviewing plant protection consultants of agricultural chambers, data on grub damages and damage years as well as changes in the extent of damages since the year 2000 were collected. By means of a questionnaire sent to 74 county chambers, species assemblage, spatial and temporal occurrence, extent of damage and ecological demands of grubs and beetles as well as plant protection measures were queried. The data were evaluated and compared with climate maps.

In two damaged areas (Murau/Judenburg und Weiz), each on two selected grassland farms, inspections were performed to locate precisely grub damages in the field and to collect background data concerning the topographic situation and the cultivation measures.

From 60 replies (81% response rate) to the questionnaire, grub "damage years" since 2000 were identified. In all of Austria a cumulated damaged acreage of 14,800 hectares was found, mainly in grasslands. From the year 2000 onwards, a steady increase of white grub damages occurred, with a climax in the very hot and dry year of 2003 (Fig. 3). The infested fields extended along the main alpine ridge from Vorarlberg up to the alpine foreland. Further on, southern slopes of the Danube valley in Upper and Lower Austria as well as the Innviertel were affected. In 2003, the typical grassland regions in the alpine foreland remained rather unaffected. The massive occurrence of grubs was very likely from the garden chafer, which is encountered in the affected aforementioned regions and causes damages on southerly-exposed grassland slopes. From 2004 to 2006, the extent of damages decreased again all over Austria. From a map of Austrian precipitation anomalies in 2003 (Fig. 4), it becomes obvious that the damaged areas were mainly situated in regions with a strong precipitation deficit. This suggests higher temperatures, lower precipitation as well as dryness and consecutive higher soil temperatures as deciding factors for population development.

In the questionnaires, most references were made to the garden chafer (*Phyllopertha horti-cola*) with 36% and the cockchafer (*Melolontha melolontha*) with nearly 40%, and the June beetle (*Melolontha melolontha*) with 24%.

From the random farm surveys in 2007, some indications were found that, in accordance with some of the literature, ecological conditions on dry sites with warm soils on southerly exposed slopes match the physiological demands of the garden chafer and provide optimal prerequisites for the development of eggs and grubs. This might contribute to an abbreviation of the egg- and larval-period, towards a strong population development and feeding damages. The interviews contained indications for further enhancing factors, such as attraction by yellow-blossoming plant species, incomplete swards as well as extensive cultivation.



Fig. 3: Counties (orange) and communities (red) affected by grub damage in the year 2003. Counties without response are coloured in grey, whereas counties without reported damages or missing data are coloured in blue.



Fig. 4: Precipitation anomalies (in %) of the period 1.1.-28.8.2003 in relation to normal precipitation (100%), averaged from the precipitation sums from 1.1.-28.8. of the years 1961-1990. Precipitation deficits are visualized as a percentage of normal precipitation < 35% in red, 36-45% in orange, 46-55% in yellow, 55-65% in light green and > 66% green. Areas damaged by grubs on a community level in 2003 are outlined in black.

Grub damages (e.g. as uncovered sites in the sward) often remain unrecognized and unreported. Drought can significantly amplify the effects of grub feeding. After feeding, under humid conditions roots can regenerate faster thereby reducing the extent of damage. Damages, however, often remain unrecognized until cutting or cultivation when, even after rainfall, the sward does not recover. Furthermore, grub damages are indicated by secondary damages caused by wild boars, badgers and crows digging for grubs. Strongly damaged sward on slopes can cause slipping of farm machines and thus endanger farm workers. The questionnaires as well as the interviews confirmed that dry weather and warm, dry and moderately permeable soils are decisive for the emergence of grub damages. For the conception and realization of a grub warning service, it is essential to test the identified parameters for their effect on the beetles and grubs, respectively, and subsequently quantify them. The implementation of a reliable risk assessment system needs accurate knowledge of the distribution of grub species as well as their ecological demands, mainly concerning soil parameters. The validation of prognoses of ecological demands of damaging scarabaeid species should be performed in long term outdoor-investigations, backed by laboratory experiments.

2.3 StartClim2006.A: Particulate matter and climate change – Are there connections between them in north-eastern Austria?

Possible links between particulate matter and human health with respect to climate change were investigated for the area of north-eastern Austria and especially for the area surrounding Vienna. Data from meteorological and air quality measurements, daily mortality rates and the results of a regional climate model were used.

Representative $PM10^1$ data have been available for north-eastern Austria since 2001, for Vienna since 2002; mortality data have been accessible since 1999; meteorological data obtained between 1975 and 2006 were used to calculate mixing height and the ventilation coefficient. Climate scenarios were based on the control period (1981 – 1990) and a future scenario period (2041 – 2050).

To investigate health stresses and strains under changed climatic conditions, dependencies of health upon meteorological parameters were studied in regression models. Meteorological parameters which are decisive for pollutant exposure and can be obtained and calculated from Global Climate Model (GCM) climate scenario run data were chosen. These included weather patterns, mixing heights and ventilation coefficients derived from the latter.

Air pollution, especially locally generated particulate matter (e.g. aerosol produced by combustion) have undeniably negative health effects that can be seen in the Viennese data sets. As air pollution levels depend on weather patterns, a relationship between weather patterns and mortality can also be expected. Analysis of the interactions between weather pattern and mortality risk and specifically interactions between weather pattern and air pollution exposure revealed unequal results. While mortality in Vienna is significantly higher than average with north-west, west and south-west weather patterns, these weather patterns show rather low particulate matter concentrations. A reason for lower PM10 concentrations with these weather patterns is greater dilution as the air masses are transported with higher wind speed over the main sources in western Europe, as shown in other studies.

Contrarily, the highest PM10 exposures in the Viennese region occur during high pressure weather patterns. Although this is the weather pattern with the highest occurrence, it shows average mortality values. From this contradiction it can be assumed that weather patterns are also decisive for other health parameters that have a greater influence on mortality.

The mixing height proved to be an adequate value to be measured. Higher mixing heights lead to greater dilution of air pollutants and should therefore be associated with lower mortality risk. This was especially evident for winter, the season with the highest air pollution exposure. This association could not be found for the summer season.

¹ PM10 = Particulate Matter with diameters < 10 μ m

The mixing height shows a strong seasonal cycle with low heights in winter, the season with the most exceedences of PM10 thresholds, and high heights in summer. Considering this parameter for the Viennese region since 1975, a slight increase from 1980 onwards can be seen. This trend would continue if this were to implicate that due to higher dilution in the future, the probability of greater particulate matter exposure would decrease. However, comparison of a control run of a regional climate model for the period 1981 - 1990 with a scenario run for the period 2041 - 2050 did not show a general increase in mixing height.

Another finding from the 32 year database is that the increase of the mixing height in spring of the second period occurred 2 weeks earlier and the decrease occurred 2 weeks later, in comparison to the first period. This effect could also cause a decrease of days which exceed the legal threshold of PM10. The mean seasonal cycles of the mixing height during the periods 1975 to 1990 and 1991 to 2006, calculated using data from the Wien Hohe Warte station, are shown as 30 day running averages in figure 5. This effect was also found in the data from the regional climate model. The scenario run also shows an earlier increase of the mixing height in spring and a later decrease in autumn than shown in the control run.



Fig. 5: Mean annual cycle of the mixing height calculated using radiosonde data from the Wien Hohe Warte station for the periods 1975 to 1990 (red) and 1991 to 2006 (green), as a running average over 30 days.

The ventilation coefficient as a product of the mixing height and the wind speed can be seen as a dimension that expresses the dilution and exchange of air masses. Similar connecetions could be found between the ventilation coefficient and the PM10 concentrations as those found between the mixing height and PM10.

The results of this study show existence of an interaction of meteorological parameters, mixing height, ventilation coefficient and to a small extent also weather patterns with both particulate matter exposure and mortality risk. Conclusions regarding future modifications in relation to climate change can only be made insofar that a shortening of the winter period with low mixing heights reduces the risk of exceeding the legal thresholds of PM10.

Presumably other parameters are also decisive for future changes in air pollution exposure. The source of particulate matter, in reference to both the area of emission (long-distance transport, regional or local emission sources) and to the types of emission sources, is certainly more important.

An interaction between emission and climate could be e.g. established to the sector of space heating due to the dependence of demand and related emissions on the prevailing temperature. Future emissions will however strongly depend on technical changes. Based on political pressure to reduce the number of days that exceed the legal thresholds, a decrease of particulate matter emissions can be expected in the future. However, investigation of this topic was not within the scope of this research project.

Another possible interaction between climate and weather, respectively, and particulate matter could be due to varying speeds of deposition and redispersion of particles with and without snow cover. Due to many uncertainties regarding this topic, both in capturing the mechanisms and the scenario calculations, it would be an interesting topic for future research projects.

2.4 StartClim2006.F: Impacts of climate change on energy use for space heating and cooling in Austria

New approaches in regional climate modelling make high resolution predictions of changes in heating and cooling degree days in Austria possible (20X20km grid). Using alpine climate data with a high resolution in space and time and a climate change scenario for the period 2041-2050, changes of the heating and cooling degree days were calculated for the whole country with 1981-90 as the base period. Then, this data was combined with a dataset of Austrian buildings and their heating systems in order to calculate the usable and total energy needs of different types of buildings on a regional scale as well as for the whole country.

The heating degree days were calculated based on the "20/12" definition, which is commonly used in Austria. According to this definition, the heating degree days are calculated as the sum of the hourly differences between an assumed room temperature of 20 degrees and the outside temperature for all days with an average temperature below 12 degrees. The cooling degree days were calculated in a manner analogous to the internationally accepted standard of 18.3 degrees as a lower threshold.

The results show a climate-induced decrease of 15 to 23 per cent of the average demand for heating over the period 2041-2050 compared to the base period 1981-90, with most regions near an average of 19.59 per cent. Larger relative decreases (21-23 per cent) were calculated for the Vorarlberg region, while smaller values (15-17 per cent) were found in high alpine regions like *Venediger Gruppe*, *Ötztaler Alpen* etc.

In absolute numbers, this means 600 fewer heating degree days in lower regions (North-Eastern Austria, the Danube valley, South-eastern Styria), 700 to 800 fewer heating degree days in the valleys of western Austria (Salzachtal, Inntal, Rheintal) and even higher values in alpine regions. For the average location of Austrian homes, a decrease of 686 heating degree days (from 3501 to 2815) was calculated.

The increase of cooling degree days is much more spatially heterogeneous than the heating degree days. While there is little average increase in alpine regions, significant increases occur in the lower regions, especially below 400 meters elevation. In the warmest regions of Austria (north-eastern Austria, southern Styria and southern Burgenland) the increase amounts to between 200 and 300 cooling degree days. But the increase also amounts to as much as 200 cooling degree days in large parts of Upper Austria, the Rhine valley and Lower Carinthia. For the location of the average Austrian home, there will be an increase from 137 to 315 cooling degree days (+130 per cent).

In summary, the results show that based on the chosen climate scenario for the period 2041-2050, households in alpine regions are significantly advantaged regarding changes in the energy demand for space heating and cooling, because the absolute decrease of the heating degree days is higher in alpine regions than in regions at lower elevations. On the other hand, the number of cooling degree days especially increased in lower regions. These results were illustrated with case studies for the two cities Vienna and Lienz. In Lienz, for example, the increase of cooling degree days occurs mostly in July and August and is small in

absolute terms, while in Vienna there are significant increases over the whole period from May to September.



Fig. 6: Heating and cooling degree days: Expected changes in Vienna, 200m (left) and Lienz, 673 m (right)

Furthermore, the relationship between the decrease of heating degree days and the increase of cooling degree days was examined. While in higher regions every additional cooling degree day corresponds to a decrease of 20 (900m) and 5 (400m) heating degree days, this relationship is 1:4 at 300 meters, 1:3 at 200 meters, and 1:2 at 100 meters. Although, direct conclusions from the change in energy demand for heating and cooling are not valid, as cooling and heating degree days are only one of many factors determining the energy demand.

In addition, the sea level shift of heating and cooling degree days due to climate change was examined. The results show that heating as well as cooling degree days may shift by about 300 meters by the period 2041-2050. Typical values for the period 1981-1990 at 200 m sea level (e.g. Vienna) could be found at about 500 m (e.g. Aspang) in the period 2041-2050.

Finally, the relevance of these changes for future demand of usable and total energy in Austria was examined. Changes in regions with a higher population density were weighted more heavily and the calculated heating degree days on a regional scale were combined with building data . This enabled conclusions regarding the regional change in the energy demand of buildings to be drawn and, after aggregation of the regional data, an assessment of the influence of Climate Change on the overall future for usable and total energy demand for space heating in Austria.

These calculations result in a decrease of approximately 10 800 GWh within the periods 1981-90 and 2041-50 based on the total energy demand for space heating in 2004. It can be expected, however, that changes in energy demand will be smaller due to thermal improvements in buildings.

Detailed assignment of total energy demands for Austrian buildings shows that in regions with a low population density the heating energy demand per home is approximately twice that of areas with a high population density. This is caused by the greater share of single family houses in rural areas. On the other hand, areas of high population density are mostly in lower lying regions. Accordingly, areas of high population density have twice as many cooling degree days as areas of low population density.

As space cooling has only become a general practice in Austria during the last few years, there are no reliable statistical data available yet that would enable a calculation of space cooling energy demand based on cooling degree days. Estimates show that space cooling energy demand currently amounts to approximately one per cent of space heating energy demand. However, it can be assumed that the cooling energy demand in Austria will strongly increase in the near future due to changes in consumption and behavioural patterns, even without an increase of cooling degree days.



Fig. 7: Increase in cooling degree days from 1981-1990 to 2041-2050



Fig. 8: Decrease in heating degree days from 1981-1990 to 2041-2050

3 Climate Change and Tourism

3.1 Startclim2006.D2: Effects of climate change on the climatic potential for tourism

According to the "Fourth Assessment Report" of the IPCC (4AR) the increase of global air temperature over the continents in the 21st century will be strongest in higher northern latitudes and an increase of extremely hot temperatures and heat waves is very probable (probability > 90%). Austria and the Austrian economy are therefore strongly affected by climate change and its consequences. Two thirds of the gross domestic product (GDP) is allotted to the service sector, where Austria particularly profits from tourism. The effect of climate change on winter sports was and is treated in many scientific studies. But summer tourism will also be affected by climate change: a shortening of the winter sports season and an extension of the summer season seems to be a logical development. These changes are regarded as changes of the climatic potential for tourism - only one of many variables, which determine the kind and extent of tourism. In the present investigation special attention is given to summer tourism.

The frequently asked question arises, whether simple climate parameters, such as air temperature or the height of the snow cover that can be assessed and quantified sufficiently well, can describe current and future climatic potential for tourism and whether this is feasible with usual climatological methods or whether interdisciplinary approaches are necessary. In the context of the StartClim2006 project "effects of climate change on the climatic potential for tourism" an integral approach is applied, which is based on climatological and humanbiometeorological and tourism-climatic methods. Apart from the thermal situation and/or bioclimatic conditions the integral approach includes different important physical (wind, rain, etc.) and aesthetic factors (duration of sunshine/cloud conditions, visibility), in order to offer a comprehensive quantitative description of the climatic potential for tourism.

To describe the thermal aspect of the suitability of climate for tourism the physiologically equivalent temperature (PET) was selected, because it takes into account the influence of the complete thermal environment (air temperature, air humidity, wind velocity as well as short and long-wave radiation) on humans. The frequency of individual PET classes quantifies thermally suitable conditions for leisure and recreation and gives information about cold and heat stress. "Sultriness" - defined according to the classical criterion of vapour pressure above a certain limit (VP > 18 hPa) – is also considered to be part of the thermal aspect of the suitability of climate for tourism.

The aesthetic aspect includes factors such as duration of sun shine, cloudiness and fog, as well as the range of visibility and daylight hours. These factors are represented by the number of days with little or no clouds as well as the number of days with fog.

The physical aspect that contains influences such as wind, rain, snow conditions, air quality and extreme weather situations, is described by the factors high wind velocity and precipitation (days with few or no precipitation as well as long duration precipitation events).

Climate data from the Central Institute for Meteorology and Geodynamics (ZAMG) for the period 1950 - 2005 from eleven selected stations that are representative spatially and in elevation were used for the analysis. These stations are: Badgastein, Feldkirch, Graz-Universität, Innsbruck-Universität, Linz-Hörsching, Obergurgl, Salzburg-Flughafen, Sonnblick, Vienna-Hohe Warte, and Villacher Alpe.

The future climatic potential for tourism in Austria is calculated using scenario runs of the REMO model from the Max-Planck Institute for Meteorology in Hamburg and covers the period 1961-2050.

The present investigation focuses on thermal (bioclimate) and precipitation conditions, because these parameters represent the most important weather factors for tourism and recreation. Instead of the frequently used monthly averages, frequencies were computed and presented in high temporal resolution - Each month is divided into three 10 day time intervals (see e.g. Figures 9 and 10).



Fig. 9: Bioclimate diagram (PET-frequencies) for Vienna for 1950 - 2005 and number of days with PET-threshold values



Fig. 10: Precipitation frequencies in Vienna for 1950 – 2005

To describe, in an integral manner, the climatic potential for tourism, a flexible "climatic tourism information scheme" CTIS was developed that can include as many or as few climatic factors as desired, depending on the aim of the study. The CTIS quantifies frequency (number of months per decade in %) for every month of the year for which each factor is conducive or aversive to recreation or leisure activities. The factors considered here are thermal suitability (such as cold stress, heat stress, sultriness), sunshine duration, little or no precipitation, fog situations, rain conditions, as well as stormy days in addition to winter sports conditions (skiing potential) described here by the days with more than 10 cm of snow cover. Examples of CTIS diagrams are given in figures 11 and 12 for Vienna, for the reference period 1961 – 1990 and the scenario 2021 – 2050.



Fig. 11: CTIS-diagram for Vienna based on the A1B-climate scenario for the period 1961–1990. Colours denote months per decade (%), the description of the factors is given in the full text.



Fig. 12: CTIS-diagram for Vienna based on the A1B-climate scenario for the period 2021–2050. Colours denote months per decade (%), the description of the factors is given in the full text.

Climate scenarios for the period 2021-50 show the following:

- The number of days with cold stress is reduced by up to 20 days, particularly in the south and southeast of Austria. The period with a potential for cold stress is shortened.
- The number of days with thermal comfort conditions increases by approximately 10 days, but the trends are not clear urban areas do not show a trend. The period of thermal suitability for recreation and leisure increases and extends into the late autumn.
- The number of days with heat stress increases, but areas above 1000 1200 m are not affected. In the southeast, more than 40 days with heat stress may occur; the duration of heat stress periods increases. The number of days with sultriness also increases.
- The number of sunny days increases in the higher areas.
- In general there is a slight upward trend for days with high precipitation. The frequency of days with little or no precipitation as well as days with long precipitation experience an increase in summer.
- The number of days with fog generally decreases.
- No definite statement can be made about the change of strong wind conditions (especially in view of recreation and leisure).
- (The potential for skiing decreases, however it is ensured at higher elevations.)

Overall, the future bioclimatic conditions in Austria are favourable for summer tourism and will lead to an extension of the season with pleasant thermal conditions into late autumn. The accompanying increase of days with sultriness will have positive effects for lake tourism, but might be impair spa/health and wellness tourism. The reduction of summer precipitation described by the climate scenario will affect nearly all sectors of summer tourism favourably.

3.2 StartClim2006.D1: The sensitivity of Austrian summer tourism for climate change

In Austrian summer tourism, the high volume of almost 60 million overnight stays is triggered by a wide range of interests that can be described by several spatial or specific market segments: city tourism, congress tourism, spa/health tourism, holidays in climatic spas, lake tourism, Danube tourism, tourism in natural sanctuaries, tourism along the traditional wine routes, countryside holidays or alpine/ mountain tourism. All these segments have different requirements for "natural quality criteria", such as landscape/nature and weather/climate. The summer tourists consume outdoor activities that are highly dependent upon weather conditions to different extents, depending on the market segment. The individual market segments therefore have different climate change vulnerabilities.

As no assessments are available regarding the segment specific requirements for natural factors or the outdoor activities of summer tourists in Austria, a pragmatic approach was chosen to overcome this deficit. With a subjective assessment based on long term expertise and partly on experimental data (the T-Mona survey on summer tourism 2004), in the first step the market segments were ranked with regard to their requirements on natural factors and outdoor activities on a scale ranging from 0 to 3. In a second step the evaluation of the present climate/weather sensitivity of the individual segment, based on the climate parameters temperature, number of heat days, precipitation, sunny days and extreme events was performed.

The results of these two assessments were plotted in a scatter diagram, which clearly indicates the strong differences of segment specific sensitivities. Lake and alpine tourism strongly depend on natural factors and outdoor activities are very important for tourists of this segment. At the same time these segments have high climate/weather sensitivity. The opposite is true for the segments: city tourism, congress tourism, spa/health tourism and holidays in climatic spas that have quite a low sensitivity to climate/weather.

Lake tourism, as an example of a segment with high climate/weather sensitivity, was chosen to investigate the correlation of summer tourism demand and climate/weather conditions in more detail. For two lake regions in Austria, the lake region in Carinthia "Kärntner Seenregion" and the lake region at the border of Salzburg and Upper Austria, correlations between seven climatic parameters, such as heat-, summer- and cool days, and the number of overnight stays for the period 1996 to 2006 were tested. Parameters containing precipitation information showed the least correlation with overnight stays.

The following conclusions can be drawn from the correlation analyses: As was to be expected, weather information alone can not explain the development of the overnight stay frequency during the analysed period. External factors such as economic development or single events and internal factors such as regional competitiveness also have to be considered. However, both lake regions clearly show weather sensitivity. Correlation of the summer demand and the climatic parameters are slightly different in the two regions (Tab. 1). Summer days are a more robust indicator for "fine weather" than heat days due to the high variability of heat days in regions where this temperature threshold is seldom reached. In the lake region of Salzburg-Upper Austria (OÖ-Sbg region) the three chosen parameters show quite similar results, which is not the case in Carinthia. It can also be shown that "fine weather" influences the over night stays by Austrian tourists more strongly than that of tourists from foreign countries.

Tab.	1: Correlation	between	climate	parameters	and the	number	of ove	rnight sta	ays in su	immer fo	or the
two te	est regions for	the perio	d 2000 t	to 2006							

Climate parameter	Correlation coefficient R ² Climate parameter versus overnight stays						
	Cari	nthia lake	region	OÖ-Sbg. Lake region			
	Total	Foreign	National	Total	Foreign	National	
Summer day >=25° C	0,250	0,130	0,442	0,631	0,350	0,720	
Heat day >=30° C	0,002	0,035	0,025	0,451	0,130	0,680	
Cool day <=20° C	0,951	0,913	0,935	0,441	0,288	0,457	

Source: ITR-database; BOKU-Met; Statistik Austria

Based on regional climate change scenarios from the research project reclip:more, the change of relevant climate parameters such as temperature increase, heat waves, precipitation and extreme events where derived for the decade 2040 and the potential impact on the individual marked segments were defined (ranging from very positive to negative). Assessment of the sensitivity and the impact was also plotted in a scatter diagram (Fig. 13). The figure clearly indicates that lake tourism in Austria with its high climate/weather sensitivity will probably profit from climate change. Positive effects can also be found for tourism in natural sanctuaries, tourism along the traditional wine routes and countryside holidays, but these segments only have moderate climate/weather sensitivity. For segments with low sensitivity, congress tourism and spa/health tourism, the effects of climate change can be classified as indifferent. The highly sensitive segments, Alpine- and Danube tourism, generally react positively to climate change, but there are some negative aspects. In Alpine tourism the glacier-and permafrost retreat and the more pronounced water fluctuation in the rivers are negative effects and for Danube tourism low water levels during summer and early autumn may become detrimental.



Fig. 13: First Assessment of the sensitivity and effect of climate change on the market segments of Austrian summer tourism. The characteristic positions of the individual market segments within this portfolio analysis result from the average scores of the evaluated dimensions "sensitivity" (0.6 to 2.86) and "effect of climate change" (-0.2 to 2.4). Different sizes of the portfolio squares result from derived threshold values of the sensitivity and effect stages. The three different sizes of market segments reflect their diverse importance and the number of over night stays of the individual respectively.



Fig. 14: Change of the tourism-relevant climate parameter in the "Kärntner Seenregion" by the year 2050 (Regionalmodell MM5, reclip:more, 2007).



Fig. 15: Change of tourism-relevant climate parameters in the OÖ-Sbg. Seenregion by the year 2050 (Regionalmodell MM5, reclip:more, 2007)



Fig. 16: Seenregion Kärnten – average daily temperature maximum – observed and scenario (Regionalmodell MM5, reclip:more, 2007)

For the two selected lake regions, the quantitative changes of climate parameters were calculated. The temperature increase by the 2040ies will lead to a 40 % increase in summer days, the heating days will roughly double and the cooling days will be reduced by 50 % (see fig. 14 and 15). The average daily maximum temperature will increase in all months but especially in September (see fig. 16). This temperature increase will extend the season for swimming in both regions to four months and improve "natural" conditions for the pre- and post season in summer tourism.

In general it can be concluded:

- State of the art regional climate change scenarios mainly tend to improve the situation for most of the summer tourism segments in Austria.
- Climate change will probably increase the attractiveness of the Austrian lake regions.
- Regional temperature scenarios are more reliable than the precipitation scenarios, therefore precipitation based indicators must be interpreted very carefully.
- An analysis for every individual summer tourism segment to determine the climate parameters that give the best estimate for tourism demands is needed. The present results give a valuable database for such studies.
- Statistical information on the climate/weather sensitivity of the summer tourists in the individual segments is missing for Austria. A professional market research would be necessary to gain information about the behaviour of summer tourists. This would be needed to analyse developments in tourism under climate change conditions.
- The demand for assessments of climate sensitivity of tourism development and adaptation strategies for individual destinations will increase in the future.

3.3 StartClim2006.D3: See-Vision: Influence of climate change-induced fluctuation of water level in Lake NeusiedI on the perception and behaviour of visitors and locals

Lake Neusiedl is situated in a relatively dry part of the Austrian province of Burgenland. It is a very shallow lake with an average water depth of less than two meters. Historical documents show that the lake had dried out several times during the 18th and 19th century for longer periods of time. Recent climate change research predicts an increasing likelihood for these events to occur more frequently in the future (Kromb-Kolb et al. 2005).

In the last few years, concerns arose about negative consequences associated with a repeated, extensive decline of water levels on tourism, especially its effects on the attractiveness of the lake and the region. The main purpose of this research project is therefore to investigate the effects of climate related changes in water level at Lake NeusiedI on the perception and behaviour of visitors to the region.

The aim of "See-Vision" is to develop and visualise future scenarios of fluctuating water-level in Lake Neusiedl for different types of shorelines, by using regional climate-data to visualise possible future landscape scenarios, which in turn affect the perception and behaviour of tourists. Thus, potential economical effects can also be estimated.

Furthermore, the study should provide indications of whether and to what extent compensation for low water level is possible e.g. through the creation of attractive swimming pools, nature experience events or wellness activities.

The questionnaire was developed with feedback from experts in the fields of tourism, nature protection, hydrology and water based recreation, resulting in future scenarios as well as hypotheses about the fluctuation of water level. Judging from recent scenarios on climate change (Kromb-Kolb et al. 2005), hydrological effects on the lake were determined.

The core element of the survey is a discrete choice experiment (in short DCE), which is a well proven method in tourism and market research (cf. Hensher et.al.2005, Haider et al.

1998), especially for the purpose of assessing non existing scenarios; the method also provides the opportunity to integrate visualisation. Visualisation is carried out according to the possible rate of incidence within the next 30 years (scenario 2040) considering different landscape types.



Fig. 17: Example – Visualisation for landscape scenarios of Lake Neusiedl

In order to test the acceptance of various adaptation strategies for the Lake Neusiedl region, possible strategies were integrated into both the DCE and the accompanying survey questions.

Results show that the main attractions of the region are its unique landscape and the various natural resources. Also, nature related opportunities are perceived positively, actually more so than those pertaining to culture or wine. In general, special events are of higher importance for vacationers than for weekend visitors. The various sports activities, on the other hand are not considered to be quite as important, which is understandable as only select groups of visitors enjoy any one of these activities. Bicycling, hiking and swimming emerge as the most popular activities. Other water sports such as sailing or surfing are only of average importance for the main sample. Recreation is more important at the lake, which again depends on the natural scenery. Both vacationers and weekend visitors consider the region to be "relaxing" and "near-natural".

Hospitality and the authenticity of the region also contribute to the attraction – especially for vacationers. Furthermore, culinary aspects and the many-faceted wine products are also important.

Whilst the region gains positive feedback concerning its gastronomy, the quality of accommodations is judged more critically. In general, vacationers (except with regard to weather/climate and gastronomy) seem to perceive the region more positively.

About 43% of weekend visitors and more than half of the vacationers felt disturbed by low water levels. This difference in perception could coincide with the fact that vacationers predominantly visit during the summer season.

When asked for their optical perception of low water levels and the associated sensation of disturbance, vacationers and weekend visitors arrived at the same conclusion – two-thirds stated that they never felt disturbed by low water levels, 25% declared to have felt only slightly disturbed.

With regards to swimming activities, weekend visitors and vacationers behave in a similar manner -57% use the lake for swimming activities, 38% rarely go into the lake and only 4% never go into the lake. More than half of the visitors do not find the muddy ground of the lake

comfortable. However, about one quarter consider the natural mud acceptable, this being more vacationers than weekend visitors.

If they had the choice, only 30% of the tourists, both weekend visitors and vacationers would prefer a pool over the lake. Whereas vacationers are equally interested in both a hotel owned pool and a public open air pool, weekend visitors definitely prefer a hotel owned pool. Once more it became obvious that, although pools are an adequate measure to compensate for low water levels, approximately one third of the visitors find, the natural resources, and especially the lake, to bear a special meaning for the region.

The strong interest of tourists in nature at Lake Neusiedl is also confirmed by the strong interest in the landscape. More than 90% of the respondents stated to inform themselves about the landscape which they chose for their holidays. Another two-thirds declared being influenced in their perception of the landscape by that knowledge of the region and its landscape.

The results mentioned above were confirmed by the choice experiment. In the overall sample, the most popular activities were the most important ones, whereas specified products (e.g. horse riding, wellness, child care) did not turn out to be significant, but they are very important for minority segments of visitors. Furthermore the demonstrated changes of water levels in the visualisations were not judged as significant as long as they do not negatively affect the preferred activities.

The choice experiment also confirmed the divergent preferences between weekend visitors and vacationers. Weekend visitors are mainly interested in the various sports activities and associated infrastructure (i.e. swimming in the lake and a pool), while longer term vacationers are mostly attracted by the landscape related attributes of water level in the lake and nature experience; for them, the cultural and wine experience are the most important additional attractions.

The results show that the effect of water levels depends on the type of landscape (i.e. shoreline with reeds, open shoreline, artificial beach with gravel). Visitors who are interested in nature have a stronger reaction to water level fluctuations.

The responses provide the following insights regarding options for adaptation to climate change:

- Most of the long-term vacationers were not affected by the statement of limited swimming opportunities in the lake, as long as the image conveys a natural environment. Therefore, limited swimming opportunities can be compensated with pools. Day- and weekend visitors react differently, and do not support the compensation of swimming in the lake with the availability of pools to the same extent.
- Significant potential for adaptation has been shown by long-term visitors, as they consider the natural environment, as well as cultural events and wine events to be the most important product components, which can partly compensate for losses in recreation opportunities due to low water levels.
- The infrastructure for upscale sports activities such as horseback riding and golf are only important for a small segment of users and are considered to be insignificant by the large majority of visitors.
- The hypothesis that more information regarding the natural environments of the lake increases the acceptance of water fluctuations has not yet been confirmed.

More detailed results of simulating the compensational behaviour of single user groups and the division of vacationers/weekend visitors addressed above, are summarized in a support tool (excel).

References

StartClim2006.A

Anderl M., M. Gangl, E. Kampel, T. Köther, V. Lorenz-Meyer, B. Muik, B. Schodl, S. Poupa, D. Wappel (2007): Emissionstrends 1990-2005. Ein Überblick über die österreichischen Verursacher von Luftschadstoffen (Datenstand 2007). Umweltbundesamt, Reports, Band 0101, Wien, 2007, ISBN: 3-85457-899-7, 121 S.,

(http://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/REP0101.pdf).

Anderson H.R., Atkinson, R.W., Peacock J.L., Marston L., Konstantinou K. (2004): Metaanalysis of time-series studies and panel studies of Particulate Matter (PM) and Ozone (O3). Report of a WHO task group. WHO Regional Office for Europe, Kopenhagen, 2004 (http://www.euro.who.int/document/E82792.pdf)

Atkinson R. und Anderson H.R. (2005): New E-R function for respiratory hospital admissions. Analysis of all-age respiratory hospital admissions and particulate air pollution within the Apheis programme. Appendix 4 in: Atkinson RW, et al.: APHEIS 3rd year report. Im Internet unter : www.apheis.net.

Augustyn, R., T. Mosor, M. Priesner und P. Riess (2005), Statuserhebung PM10 2002 & 2003 in Wien gemäß Immissionsschutzgesetz – Luft. Amt der Wiener Landesregierung MA22 – Umweltschutz, MA22 – 246/2005 (http://www.wien.gv.at/ma22/luft/pdf/iglstatus2003-pm10.pdf).

Beljaars A.C.M. und Betts A.K. (1992): Validation of the boundary layer representation in the ECMWF model. ECMWF Seminar Proceedings: Validation of Models over Europe, Vol. II. Reading, UK, 7}11 September 1992.

Bauer, H., I. Marr, A. Kasper-Giebl, A. Limbeck, A. Caseiro, M. Handler, N. Jankowski, B. Klatzer, P. Kotianova, P. Pouresmaeil, Ch. Schmidl, M. Sageder, H. Puxbaum und das A-QUELLA – TEAM (2006): Endbericht für das Projekt "AQUELLA" Wien, Bestimmung von Immissionsbeiträgen in Feinstaubproben, MA 22 – 3869/03, Wien.

Böhmer S., B. Gugele, A. Kaiser, E. Petz, H. Scheifinger, W. Spangl, J. Schneider, D. Wappel (2007): Einfluss von Punktquellen auf die Luftqualität in Nordost-Österreich - Endbericht. Im Auftrag der OMV AG. Umweltbundesamt, Reports, Band 0105, Wien, 2007 ISBN: 3-85457-903-9, 118 S.,

(http://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/REP0105.pdf).

Dockery D. et al. (1993): An association between air pollution and mortality in six US cities. N. Engl. J. Med. 329, 1753-1759.

ENVIRON, 2006: User's Guide to the Comprehensive Air Quality Model with Extensions (CAMx), Version 4.40, ENVIRON International Corporation, Novato, CA.

Hauck H., A. Berner, T. Frischer, B. Gomišcek, M. Kundi, M. Neuberger, H. Puxbaum, O. Preining and AUPHEP-Team (2004): Austrian Project on Health Effects of Particulates – General Overview. *Atmos Environ.* **38**, 3905-3915.

Houghton T., Yihui D., Griggs D. (2001): Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis: Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Scientific Basis (Climate Change 2001). Cambridge University Press 2001, ISBN-10: 0521014956, ISBN-13: 978-0521014953

Holtslag A.A.M., De Bruin E.I.F., Pan H.-L. (1990): A high resolution air mass transformation model for short range weather forecasting. Monthly Weather Review 118, 1561-1575.

Holzworth C.G. (1964): Estimates of mean maximum mixing depths in the contiguous United States. Monthly Weather Review 92, 235-242.

IPCC, 2007: Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers.

Karppinen A., Eresmaa N., Härkönen J. (2007): Mixing Height Studies, The 2nd Helsinki Testbed Workshop, Finnish Meteorological Institute, Kumpula, Dynamicum, 12.4.2007

Krüger, B. C., 2004: Aktionsplan für Sofortmaßnahmen gemäß § 15 Ozon-Gesetz - Meteorologisch chemische Modellrechnungen - Bericht an den Magistrat der Stadt Wien, MA 22, Wien, an das Amt der niederösterreichischen Landesregierung, Gruppe Raumordnung, Umwelt und Verkehr, Abteilung Umweltrecht, St. Pölten, und an das Amt der burgenländischen Landesregierung Abt. 5 - Anlagenrecht, Umweltschutz und Verkehr, Hauptreferat III - Naturund Umweltschutz, Eisenstadt. http://www.magwien.gv.at/ma22/pool/pdf/ozon_sofort_04.pdf

Kysely J. (2004): Mortality and displaced mortality during heat waves in the Czech Republic Int J Biometeorol 49:91–97.

Lacasaña M. et al. (2005): Exposure to ambient air pollution and prenatal and early childhood health effects. Europ. J. of Epidemiology 20, 183-189.

Lauscher F. (1972): 25 Jahre mit täglicher Klassifikation der Wetterlage in den Ostalpenländern. Wetter u. Leben 24.

Le Tertre A. et al. (2002): Short-term effects of particulate air pollution on cardiovascular diseases in eight European cities Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 56, 773-779.

Medina S. et al. (2002): Health Impact Assessment of Air Pollution in 26 European Cities -First Results in of the APHEIS study. Pollution Athmosperrique 176, 499-502.

Neuberger M. et al. (2004): Acute effects of particulate matter on respiratory diseases, symptoms and functions. Epidemiological results of the Austrian Project on Health Effects of Particulate Matter (AUPHEP). Atmospheric Environment 38, 24, 3971-3981.

Neuberger M., Rabzenko D., Moshammer H. (2007): Extended effects of air pollution on cardiovascular mortality in Vienna. Submitted.

Pope A. et al. (2002): Lung cancer, cardiopulmonary mortality and long-term exposure to fine particulate air pollution. JAMA 287: 1132-1141.

Rao S. T, Ku J.-Y., Berman S., Zhang K., Huiting M. (2003): Summertime characteristics of the atmospheric boundary layer and relationships to ozone levels over the Eastern United States, Pure Appl. Geophys. 160, p 21-55.

Reclip:more, 2007: research for climate protection – model run evaluation. http://systemsresearch.arcs.ac.at/projects/climate/.

Roeckner, E., R. Brokopf, M. Esch, M. Giorgetta, S. Hagemann, L. Kornblueh, E. Manzini, U. Schlese, and U. Schulzweida, (2006), Sensitivity of Simulated Climate to Horizontal and Vertical Resolution in the ECHAM5 Atmosphere Model, J. Climate, 19, 3771–3791, doi: 10.1175/JCLI3824.1.

Schneider, J. und G. Lorbeer (2002): Inhaltsstoffe von PM 10- und PM 2,5 an zwei Messstationen, Umweltbundesamt, Bericht BE-208, Wien.

Schneider J., W. Spangl, K. Placer, L. Moosmann (2005): Abschätzung der Gesundheitsauswirkungen von Schwebestaub in Österreich. Umweltbundesamt, Reports, Band 0020, Wien, 2005, ISBN: 3-85457-819-9, 52 S.,

(http://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/REP0020.pdf).

Seibert P, Beyrich F, Gryning S, Joffre S, Rasmussen A, Tercier, P (2000): Review and intercomparison of operational methods for the determination of the mixing height, *Atmospheric Environment* **34** (2000), p 1001-1027

Spangl W., C. Nagl, J. Schneider, A. Kaiser (2006): Herkunftsanalyse der PM10-Belastung in Österreich. Ferntransport und regionale Beiträge. Umweltbundesamt, Reports, Band 0034,

Wien, 2006, ISBN: 3-85457-833-4, 112 S., (http://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/REP0034.pdf).

Spangl, W., C. Nagl, J. Schneider, G. Lorbeer, K. Placer, G. Lichtblau, A. Kurzweil, R. Ortner, S. Böhmer und A. Kaiser (2004a): Fachgrundlagen für eine Statuserhebung zur PM10-Belastung in Wien. Erstellt im Auftrag des Amtes der Wiener Landesregierung, MA22, Umweltbundesamt, Wien (http://www.wien.gv.at/umweltschutz/pool/pdf/pm10.pdf).

Spangl, W., C. Nagl und J. Schneider (2004b), Statuserhebung betreffend Überschreitungen des IG-L-Grenzwertes für PM10 an den Messstellen Eisenstadt, Illmitz und Kittsee im Jahr 2002. Erstellt im Auftrag der Burgenländischen Landesregierung. Umweltbundesamt, Wien (http://www.luft-bgld.at/Endbericht_Statuserhebung_pm10_burgenland.pdf).

Spangl, W., C. Nagl und J. Schneider (2005), Untersuchung der PM10-Immissionssituation an den Luftgütemessstellen in Nierderösterreich in den Jahren 2002 und 2003. Statuserhebung mit vorläufiger Emissionsbetrachtung betreffend die Überschreitung des Immissionsgrenzwertes für PM10 in den Jahren 2002 und 2003. Erstellt im Auftrag des Amtes der Niederösterreichischen Landesregierung, Abt. BD4 und RU4, Umweltbundesamt, Wien (http://www.noel.gv.at/SERVICE/BD/Bd4/luft/pdf/Statuserhebung_PM10_NOE.pdf).

Spangl, W., J. Schneider, C. Nagl, S. Böhmer, A. Kurzweil, R. Ortner und W. Pölz (2006): Statuserhebung betreffend PM₁₀ Grenzwertüberschreitungen in Oberwart im Jahr 2003. Im Auftrag der Burgenländischen Landesregierung. Umweltbundesamt, Wien.

Troen I. und Mahrt L. (1986): A simple model of the planetary boundary layer: Sensitivity to surface evaporation. Boundary-Layer Meteorology 37, 129-148.

Umweltbundesamt (2006): Schwebestaub in Österreich. Fachgrundlagen für eine kohärente österreichische Strategie zur Verminderung der Schwebestaubbelastung. Umweltbundesamt, Berichte, Band 277, Wien, 2005 ISBN: 3-85457-787-7, 413 S., (http://www.umweltbundesamt.at/fileadmin/site/publikationen/BE277.pdf).

Ward D.J. und Ayres J.G. (2004): Particulate air pollution and panel studies in children: a systematic review. Occup. Environ. Med. 61, e13.

WHO (2004): Health Aspects of Air Pollution, Results from the WHO Project "Systematic Review of Health Aspects of Air Pollution in Europe", Kopenhagen.

Wien (2005a): 1. Maßnahmenpaket der Stadt Wien gegen Feinstaub, April 2005, http://www.magwien.gv.at/umweltschutz/luft/pdf/feinstaub1.pdf).

Wien (2005b): 2. Maßnahmenpaket der Stadt Wien gegen Feinstaub, September 2005, http://www.magwien.gv.at/umweltschutz/luft/pdf/feinstaub2.pdf).

Woodruff TJ et al. (1997): The relationship between selected causes of postneonatal infant mortality and particulate air pollution in the United States. Environ. Health Perspect. 105, 608-612.

Wotawa G. Seibert P. Kromp-Kolb H. Hirschberg M.(2000): Verkehrsbedingte Stickoxid-Belastung im Inntal: Einfluss meteorologischer und topographischer Faktoren.. Endbericht zum Projekt Nr. 6983 "Analyse der Schadstoffbelastung im Inntal" des Jubiläumsfonds der Österreichischen Nationalbank. Institut für Meteorologie und Physik, Universität für Bodenkultur Wien. Oktober 2000, 28 pp.

Zanobetti A.et al. (2002): The temporal pattern of mortality responses to air pollution: a multicity assessment of mortality displacement. Epidemiology 13, 87-93.

Zanobetti A.et al. (2003): The temporal pattern of respiratory and heart disease mortality in response to air pollution. Environ. Health Perspect. 111, 1188-1193.

Datenquellen

Reclip:more, research for climate protection model run evaluation, http://systemsresearch.arcs.ac.at/projects/climate/

Reclip:more, Research for Climate Protection – Model Run Evaluation, Laufzeit 03.11.2003-30.12.2006, http://systemsresearch.arcs.ac.at/projects/climate/

ZAMG, Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik (2007): Wetterlagenklassifikation, Radiosondendaten, Windgeschwindigkeit und Windrichtung

StartClim2006.B

Aransay, A. M., Ready, P. D. & Morillas-Marquez, F. (2003). Population differentiation of Phlebotomus perniciosus in Spain following postglacial dispersal. *Heredity* **90**, 316-325.

Artemiev, M. M. (1991). A classification of the subfamily Phlebotominae. *Parassitologia* 33 Suppl, 69-77.

Ashford, D. A., David, J. R., Freire, M., David, R., Sherlock, I., Eulalio, M. D., Sampaio, D. P. & Badaro, R. (1998). Studies on control of visceral leishmaniasis: Impact of dog control on canine and human visceral leishmaniasis in Jacobina, Bahia, Brazil. *American Journal Of Tropical Medicine And Hygiene* **59**, 53-57.

Aspöck, H. (1979). Biogeographie der Arboviren Europas. - Beiträge zur Geoökologie des Menschen, Vorträge des 3. Geomedizinischen Symposiums, Schloß Reisensburg, 1977. *Geographische Zeitschrift, Beiheft* **51**, 11-28.

Aspöck, H., Aspöck, U. & Rausch, H. (1991). Biogeographisches Glossarium. In Die Raphidiopteren der Erde Eine monographische Darstellung der Systematik, Taxonomie, Biologie, Ökologie und Chorologie der rezenten Raphidiopteren der Erde, mit einer zusammenfassenden Übersicht der fossilen Raphidiopteren (Insecta: Neuropteroidea) Mit 36 Bestimmungs-schlüsseln, 15 Tabellen, ca 3100 Abbildungen und ca 200 Ver-breitungskarten, pp. 600-611. Krefeld: Goecke & Evers.

Aspöck, H. (2003). Zur Frage der Bedeutung eines möglichen globalen Klimawandels für die Verbreitung von Infektionskrankheiten des Menschen in Mitteleuropa. In *Auswirkungen von Klimaänderungen auf die Tierwelt - derzeitiger Wissensstand, fokussiert auf den Alpenraum und Österreich Bundesministerium für Land- und Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft,* pp. 85-89; 141. Edited by H. Kromp-Kolb & T. Gerersdorfer: Projekt GZ 54 3895/171-V/4/02, Endbericht.

Baldelli, R., Battelli, G., Maroli, M., Mollicone, E., Gudi, A., Stegagno, G. & Tasini, G. (2001). A new stable focus of canine leishmaniasis in northern Italy. *Parassitologia* **43**, 151-153.

Becker, M., Zielen, S., Schwarz, T. F., Linde, R. & Hofmann, D. (1997). Pappataci fever. *Klinische Padiatrie* 209, 377-379.

Bettini, S., Pozio, E. & Gradoni, L. (1980). Leishmaniasis In Tuscany (Italy).2. Leishmania From Wild Rodentia And Carnivora In A Human And Canine Leishmaniasis Focus. *Transactions Of The Royal Society Of Tropical Medicine And Hygiene* **74**, 77-83.

Beyreder, J. (1965). [A case of leishmaniasis in Lower Austria]. *Wien Med Wochenschr* **115**, 900-901.

Biocca, E., Coluzzi, A, Constantini, R. (1977). Distribution des differentes especes de Phlebotomes en Italie et transmission des leishmanioses et de quelques arboviroses. *Éditions du Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS)* **239**, 157-167.

Blanchard, R. (1909). A propos des Phlébotomes (Dipt. Psychodidae). Bull Soc Ent de France, 192.

Boehme, C. C., Hain, U., Novosel, A., Eichenlaub, S., Fleischmann, E. & Loscher, T. (2006). Congenital visceral leishmaniasis. *Emerg Infect Dis* **12**, 359-360.

Bogdan, C., Schonian, G., Banuls, A. L., Hide, M., Pratlong, F., Lorenz, E., Rollinghoff, M. & Mertens, R. (2001). Visceral leishmaniasis in a german child who had never entered a known endemic area: Case report and review of the literature. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* **32**, 302-306.

Brandonisio, O., Carelli, G., Ceci, L., Consenti, B., Fasanella, A. & Puccini, V. (1992). Canine Leishmaniasis In The Gargano Promontory (Apulia, South Italy). *European Journal Of Epidemiology* **8**, 273-276.

Cabie, A., Matheron, S., Lepretre, A., Bouchaud, O., Deluol, A. M. & Coulaud, J. P. (1992). Visceral Leishmaniasis And Hiv-Infection - A Fully Opportunistic Infection. *Presse Medicale* 21, 1658-1662.

Callot, J. (1950). Présence de Phlebotomus larroussei en Alsace. *Annales de Parasitologie Humaine et Comparée* **25**, 112.

Cascio, A., Gradoni, L., Scarlata, F., Gramiccia, M., Giordano, S., Russo, R., Scalone, A., Camma, C. & Titone, L. (1997). Epidemiologic surveillance of visceral leishmaniasis in Sicily, Italy. *American Journal Of Tropical Medicine And Hygiene* **57**, 75-78.

Charrel, R. N., Gallian, P., Navarro-Mari, J. M., Nicoletti, L., Papa, A., Sanchez-Seco, M. P., Tenorio, A. & de Lamballerie, X. (2005). Emergence of Toscana virus in Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* **11**, 1657-1663.

Ciaramella, P., Oliva, G., DeLuna, R., Gradoni, L., Ambrosio, R., Cortese, L., Scalone, A. & Persechino, A. (1997). A retrospective clinical study of canine leishmaniasis in 150 dogs naturally infected by Leishmania infantum. *Veterinary Record* **141**, 539-543.

Corradetti, A. (1968). Phlebotomus control in the Mediterranean and Middle East area. *Ann Ist Super Sanita* **4**, 705-708.

Darne, S. & Sinclair, S. A. (2006). A sandfly in Surrey? A case of cutaneous leishmaniasis in the United Kingdom without history of recent travel to an endemic area. *Clinical and Experimental Dermatology* **31**, 155-156.

De Lattin, G. (1967). Grundriß der Zoogeographie. Stuttgart: G. Fischer.

Defuentes, G., Rapp, C., Imbert, P., Durand, J. P. & Debord, T. (2004). Acute meningitis due to sandfly fever toscana virus imported to France. *International Journal Of Antimicrobial Agents* **24**, S169-S169.

del Giudice, P., Marty, P., Lacour, J. P., Perrin, C., Pratlong, F., Haas, H., Dellamonica, P. & Le Fichoux, Y. (1998). Cutaneous Leishmaniasis due to Leishmania infantum - Case reports and literature review. *Archives Of Dermatology* **134**, 193-198.

Depaquit, J., Naucke, T. J., Schmitt, C., Ferte, H. & Leger, N. (2005). A molecular analysis of the subgenus Transphlebotomus Artemiev, 1984 (Phlebotomus, Diptera, Psychodidae) inferred from ND4 mtDNA with new northern records of Phlebotomus mascittii Grassi, 1908. *Parasitology Research* **95**, 113-116.

Desjeux, P. & Alvar, J. (2003). Leishmania/HIV co-infections: epidemiology in Europe. *Annals Of Tropical Medicine And Parasitology* **97**, 3-15.

Dornbusch, H. J., Urban, C., Kerbl, C., Lackner, H., Schinger, W., Sovinz, P., Zottner, H. & Aspöck, H. (1999). Viszerale Leishmaniose bei einem 10 Monate alten österreichischen Mädchen. XXXIII Tagung der Österreichischen Gesellschaft für Tropenmedizin und Parasitologie.

Edelhofer, R., Kosztolich, A., Mitterhuber, C. & Kutzer, E. (1995). Imported Cases Of Leishmaniasis In Dogs, A Retrospective Study Concerning Austria (1985-1994). *Wiener Tierarztliche Monatsschrift* 82, 90-95.

Englund, L. & Pringle, J. (2003). New diseases and increased risk of diseases in companion animals and horses due to transport. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 19-25.

Ferrarese, U. & Maroli, M. (2002). Ricerche sui flebotomi (Diptera, Psychodidae) in provincia di Trento nel 2001. Annali Museo civico, Rovereto 18, 171-179.

Ferrarese, U., Natale, A., Coradi, S. & Maroli, M. (2004). Nuovi ritrovamenti di flebotomi (Diptera, Psychodidae) nella parte meridionale del Trentino. *Annali Museo civico, Rovereto* 20, 341-348.

Galli-Valerio, **B. (1911).** Note relative à Phlebotomus papatasei trouvé à Sondrio. Notes de Parasitologie et de technique parasitologique. *Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie* **40**, 358.

Galli-Valerio, **B. (1912).** Beobachtungen über Culiciden und Mitteilung über das Vorkommen von Phlebotomus papatasi (Scop.) im Kanton Waadt. *Zentralb Bakteriol* **43**, 222.

Gaschen, H. (1945). Phlébotomes de Suisse. Acta Tropica 2, 137-154.

Gaschen, H. (1956a). Présence de Phlebotomus mascittii Grassi 1908 dans le canton de Vaud. *Mitteilungen der Schweizerischen Entomologischen Gesellschaft* **29**, 223-225.

Gaschen, H. (1956b). Captures de Phlébotomes dans le canton du Tessin. *Mitteilungen der Schweizerischen Entomologischen Gesellschaft* 29, 226-228.

Grimm, F., Knechtli, R., Gessler, M. & Jenni, L. (1990). Biology of sandflies in southern Switzerland. *Rev Suisse Zool* 97.

Grimm, F., Gessler, M. & Jenni, L. (1993). Aspects Of Sandfly Biology In Southern Switzerland. *Medical And Veterinary Entomology* 7, 170-176.

Hofman, V., Marty, P., Perrin, C., Saint-Paul, M. C., Le Fichoux, Y., Michiels, J. F., Glaichenhaus, N., Pratlong, F. & Hofman, P. (2000). The histological spectrum of visceral Leishmaniasis caused by Leishmania infantum MON-1 in acquired immune deficiency syndrome. *Human Pathology* **31**, 75-84.

Knechtli, R. & Jenni, L. (1989). Distribution And Relative Density Of 3 Sandfly (Diptera, Phlebotominae) Species In Southern Switzerland. *Annales De Parasitologie Humaine Et Comparee* **64**, 53-63.

Koehler, K., Stechele, M., Hetzel, U., Domingo, M., Schonian, G., Zahner, H. & Burkhardt, E. (2002). Cutaneous leishmaniosis in a horse in southern Germany caused by Leishmania infantum. *Veterinary Parasitology* **109**, 9-17.

Kollaritsch, H., Emminger, W., Zaunschirm, A. & Aspock, H. (1989). Suspected autochthonous kala-azar in Austria. *Lancet* 1, 901-902.

Langeron, M. & Nitzulescu, V. (1931). Phlebotomus larroussei n. sp. nouvelle espèce Européene de phlébotome. Ann Parasitol Hum Comp 9, 72-76.

Lindgren, E. & Naucke, T. J. (2007). Leishmaniasis: influences of climate and climate change epidemiology, ecology and adaptation measures. In *Climate change and adaptation strategies for human health*, pp. 131-156. Edited by B. Menne & K. L. Ebi. Berlin Heidelberg New York: Springer.

Lörincz, F. & Szentkirályi, Z. (1933). Über das Vorkommen von Phlebotomus macedonicus (Adler und Theodor, 1931) in Ungarn. *Arch Schiffs- u Tropenhyg* **37**, 458-464.

Marett, P. J. (1923). A note on the capture of a Phlebotomus perniciosus male in Jersey, C. I. *Transactions Of The Royal Society Of Tropical Medicine And Hygiene* **17**, 267.

Meinecke, C. K., Schottelius, J., Oskam, L. & Fleischer, B. (1999). Congenital transmission of visceral leishmaniasis (kala azar) from an asymptomatic mother to her child. *Pediatrics* **104**, art. no.-e65.

Mühr, B. (2006). Klimadiagramme weltweit: Institut für Meteorologie und Klimaforschung, Universität Karlsruhe.

Naucke, T. J. & Pesson, B. (2000). Presence of Phlebotomus (Transphlebotomus) mascittii Grassi, 1908 (Diptera: Psychodidae) in Germany. *Parasitology Research* 86, 335-336.

Naucke, T. J. (2002). *Leishmaniose, eine Tropenkrankheit and deren Vektoren (Diptera, Psychodidae, Phlebotominae) in Mitteleuropa*: In: Aspöck, H. Amöben, Bandwürmer, Zecken...Parasiten und Parasitäre Erkrankungen des Menschen in Mitteleuropa. Katalog des OÖ Landesmuseums.

Naucke, T. J. & Schmitt, C. (2004). Is leishmaniasis becoming endemic in Germany? International Journal Of Medical Microbiology 293, 179-181.

Naucke, T. J., Lorentz, S. & Grunewald, H. W. (2006). Laboratory testing of the insect repellents IR3535 (R) and DEET against Phlebotomus mascittii and P-duboscqi (Diptera: Psychodidae). *International Journal Of Medical Microbiology* **296**, 230-232.

Reithinger, R., Davies, C. R., Cadena, H. & Alexander, B. (1997). Evaluation of the fungus Beauveria bassiana as a potential biological control agent against phlebotomine sand flies in Colombian coffee plantations. *J Invertebr Pathol* **70**, 131-135.

Rufenacht, S., Sager, H., Muller, N., Schaerer, V., Heier, A., Welle, M. M. & Roosje, P. J. (2005). Two cases of feline leishmaniosis in Switzerland. *Veterinary Record* 156, 542-545.

Schöner, W., Auer, I., Böhm, R. & Thaler, S. (2003). StartClim. 1: Qualitätskontrolle und statistische Eigenschaften ausgewählter Klimaparameter auf Tageswertbasis im Hinblick auf Extremwertanalysen. In *Startprojekt Klimaschutz: Erste Analysen extremer Wetterereignisse und ihrer Auswirkungen in Österreich*. Wien.

Schonian, G., Nasereddin, A., Dinse, N., Schweynoch, C., Schallig, H., Presber, W. & Jaffe, C. L. (2003). PCR diagnosis and characterization of Leishmania in local and imported clinical samples. *Diagnostic Microbiology And Infectious Disease* **47**, 349-358.

Schwartz, E., Hatz, C. & Blum, J. (2006). New world cutaneous leishmaniasis in travellers. *Lancet Infect Dis* 6, 342-349.

Scope, A., Trau, H., Bakon, M., Yarom, N., Nasereddin, A. & Schwartz, E. (2003). Imported mucosal leishmaniasis in a traveler. *Clin Infect Dis* **37**, e83-87.

Steinhausen, I. (2005). Untersuchung zur Verbreitung von Sandmücken (Phlebotomen) in Deutschland mit Hilfe geographischer Informationssysteme (GIS). *Diplomarbeit*, 1-91.

Vogel, R. (1931). Beobachtungen über blutsaugende Zweiflügler im Kanton Tessin. *Zool Anz* **93**, 1-3.

Walochnik, J. & Aspöck, H. (2004). Pränatale, perinatale und neonatale Protozoen-Infektionen des Menschen: Überblick und aktuelle Probleme. *Nova Acta Leopoldina* 334, 187-207.

Walochnik, J. & Aspöck, H. (2005). Leishmaniosen - Diagnostik und Therapie. *Pro Med* 2, 14-25.

Ward, R. D., Bettini, S., Maroli, M., McGarry, J. W. & Draper, A. (1981). Phosphoglucomutase polymorphism in Phlebotomus perfiliewi perfiliewi Parrot (Diptera: Psychodidae) from central and northern Italy. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **75**, 653-661.

Wöhrl, S., Schnedl, J., Walochnik, J., Stingl, G. & A., G. (2007). Successful treatment of a married couple for American leishmaniosis with miltefosine. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*.

Zahner, H. & Bauer, C. (2004). Leishmaniose bei Hunden in Deutschland - Ergebnisse einer Umfrage unter praktischen Tierärzten. *Tierarztliche Praxis* **77**, 190-192.

ZAMG (2001).ÖKLIM - der digitale Klimaatlas Österreichs: Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik.

StartClim2006.C

ADAMS, J. B., 1962: Aphid survival at low temperatures. - Can. J. Zool. 40: 951-956.

BECHERER, K., EIBNER, C., FISCHER, M., HILGERS, M., KLETTER, L., PLESKOT, G., SCHÖNMANN, R., TURNOVSKY, K., VORNATSCHER, J., 1976: Naturgeschichte Österreichs. – Verl. Forum: 568p.

BERAN, F., 1951: Die Bekämpfungsaktionen 1951 gegen Maikäfer und Engerlinge. – Der Pflanzenarzt 4, 2. Sondernummer: 1.

BERNER, M & SCHNETTER, W., 2004: Nematoden zur Bekämpfung von Maikäfer-Engerlingen. - Laimburg Journal 1(2): 309-314.

BIODIV: http://www.biodiv.at/chm/situation/klima.htm

BOCKSCH, M., 2003: Gartenlaubkäfer (Phyllopertha horticola). http://www.slplan.de/Naturrasen/Gartenlaubkaefer.pdf BRENNER, H., 2004: Beobachtungen über den Beginn von Maikäferflügen nach der Temperatursummenregel von Horber. - Laimburg Journal 1(2): 181-182.

CATE, P. C., 2004: Maikäferflüge in Österreich 1949–2000 – Erste vorläufige Auswertungen (Coleoptera, Scarabaeidae, Melolontha melolontha (L.) und M. hippocastani (F.)). - Laimburg Journal 1(2):146–157.

De Natuur:

http://images.google.at/imgres?imgurl=http://www.denatuur.be/temp/es_page_sections_img_thumb_8104_.jpg&imgrefurl=http://www.denatuur.be/pages/junikever.html&h=391&w=488&sz=59&hl=de&start=13&tbnid=bhy4JqVRMPpAkM:&tbnh=104&tbnw=130&prev=/images%3Fq%3DAmphimallon%2Bsolstitiale%26gbv%3D2%26ndsp%3D18%26svnum%3D10%26hl%3Dde%26sa%3DN

Digitaler Atlas Steiermark: http://gis2.stmk.gv.at/da3easy/viewer.aspx?karte=adr

eBOD- die digitale Bodenkarte: http://bfw.ac.at/rz/bfwcms.web?dok=2967

e-nema: http://www.e-nema.de/biological01.php

FABER, W., 1951a: - Über die Lebensweise und Entwicklung des Maikäfers. – Der Pflanzenarzt 4, 2. Sondernummer: 2-3.

FABER, W., 1951b: Erfahrungen über Maikäfer-Großbekämpfungsaktionen. – Der Pflanzenarzt 4, 2. Sondernummer: 3-4.

FABER, W., 1951c: Der heutige Stand der Engerlingsbekämpfung. – Der Pflanzenarzt 4, 2. Sondernummer: 5.

FABER, W., 1951d: Wie erkennen wir die Engerlinge schädlicher Blatthornkäferarten. – Der Pflanzenarzt 4, 2. Sondernummer: 6-7.

FABER, W., 1961: Ergebnisse zehnjähriger Erhebungen über die Flugjahre des Maikäfers (*Melolontha melolontha* L. und *M. hippocastani* F.) in Österreich. – Pflanzenschutz Berichte 27 (1/10): 101-146.

FRÖSCHLE, M. & ALBERT, R., 2004: Versuche zur biologischen und mechanischen Bekämpfung schädlicher Scarabaeidenarten. - Laimburg Journal 1(2): 259-264.

FRÖSCHLE, M. (2002): Der Feldmaikäfer und seine Engerlinge. http://www.landwirtschaftbw.info/servlet/PB/s/95nbcykvfxmj1hq5brxry86vy8jh30c/show/1047957_l1/maikaefer.pdf

GERSDORF, E., 1958 : Zum Auftreten des Maikäfers in Niedersachsen. – Z. angew. Ent. 42: 401-408.

GIS-Stmk - Digitaler Atlas der Steiermark – easy: http://www.gis.steiermark.at/cms/ziel/73713/DE/

HORBER, E., 1955: Ökologische und statistische Untersuchungen an Populationen des Feldmaikäfers (Melolontha vulgaris F.). - Landwirtschaftliches Jahrbuch der Schweiz 69(4): 197-210.#

HURPIN, B., 1962: Les Melolontha. – In : Balachowski A. S. (ed.) : Entomologie appliquée à l'agriculture, Tome 1 : Coléoptères, Masson, Paris, France, pp. 59-122.

KELLER, S. & ZIMMERMANN, G., 2005: Scarabs and other soil pests in Europe: Situation, perspectives and control strategies. – In: KELLER, S. (Hrsg.), 2005: Insect Pathogens and Insect Parasitic Nematodes "Melolontha". – IOBC wprs Bulletin 28(2): 9-12.

KELLER, S., 2004a: Bekämpfung von Maikäfer-Engerlingen mit dem Pilz Beauveria brongniartii in der Schweiz. - Laimburg Journal 1(2): 158-164.

KLIMAATLAS STEIERMARK: http://www.umwelt.steiermark.at/cms/ziel/16178332/DE/

KLIMATOGRAPHIE VON ÖSTERREICH: HTTP://WWW.BOKU.AC.AT/IMP/EDUCATION/KLIMAC/STKAP4CO.DOC

KOUTNY, A., 2004: Maikäfer und Co. gezielt bekämpfen. - Bauern Journal IV(3). - http://www.uibk.ac.at/bipesco/beratung/seite20_bj.pdf

MILNE, A., 1983: Fluctuation and natural control of animal population, as exemplified in the garden chafer *Phyllopertha horticola* (L.). – Proceedings of the Society of Edinburgh 82B: 145-199.

Natur-Lexikon.com: http://www.ausgabe.natur-lexikon.com/

Öko-Forum, Stadt Luzern, 2007: Stichwort Maikäfer. - http://www.oekoforum.ch/downloads/Maikaefer.pdf

PÖTSCH, E. M., STRASSER, H. & BERGER, H. K., 1997: Was Sie über tierische Schädlinge am Grünland wissen sollten. – Der fortschrittliche Landwirt: "Tierische Schädlinge am Grünland" 6: 107-115.

RWS:

http://images.google.at/imgres?imgurl=http://www.werle.com/foto/makro/t6rws.jpg&imgrefurl=http://www.werle.com/foto/makro/t6.htm&h=445&w=580&sz=27&hl=de&start=1&tbnid=cbpVN9k0CNr2YM:&tbnh=103&tbn w=134&prev=/images%3Fq%3DPhyllopertha%2Bhorticola%26gbv%3D2%26svnum%3D10%26hl%3Dde

SCHAUMBERGER, A., 2005: Ertragsanalyse im österreichischen Grünland mittels GIS unter besonderer Berücksichtigung klimatischer Veränderungen. – Diplomarbeit zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines "Magister" im Individuellen Diplomstudium Geoinformationstechnologie, eingereicht am Institut für Geoinformationen der Technischen Universität Graz bei Ao. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Norbert BARTELME.

SCHEERPELTZ, O., 1950: Der Maikäfer. Verl. A. Ziemsen. Wittenberg, Lutherstadt. 43p.

SCHMID, A., 2004: Wechsel vom 4-jährigen zum 3-jährigen Zyklus in der Maikäferpopulation von Brig (Schweiz). – Laimburg Journal 1(2): 193-196.

SCHULATLAS STEIERMARK:

http://www.unigraz.at/geowww/schulatlassteiermark/downloads/klima/klima_thema.pdf

STRASSER, H., 2004a: Scarabaeiden in Österreich: Schadensumfang und biologische Bekämpfung.– Nachrichtenblatt des Deutschen Pflanzenschutzdienst 56(5): 91-94.

STRASSER, H., 2004b: Assessment of scarab infestation in Austria. – Laimburg Journal 1(2): 171-175.

STRASSER, H., 2004c: Biocontrol of important soil-dwelling pests by improving the efficacy of insect pathogenic fungi. - Laimburg Journal 1(2): 236-241.

TRAUGOTT, M., 2003: Bodenschädlinge und Bodennützlinge: Wer oder was kontrolliert Engerling und Drahtwurm? – Entomologica Austriaca 8: 7-9.

ZAMG: http://www.zamg.ac.at/index.php3

ZWEIGELT, F., 1928: Der Maikäfer. Studien zur Biologie und zum Vorkommen im südlichen Mitteleuropa. Monographien zur angewandten Entomologie. Beihefte zur Zeitschrift für angewandte Entomologie, XIII. Band, Nr. 9. Verlag Paul Parey, Berlin.

StartClim2006.D1

Belitz, M. (2003): Die Bedeutung des Wetters und der Wetterberichterstattung für das Ausflugsverhalten; in dwif, 45. Jg., S. 121-135.

Faber, J. (2007): Wo geht's zum Strand. In: bulletin der ÖW, Mai 2007, S.20-21.

Fleischhacker, V. (1991): Bestandsaufnahme Anthropogene Klimaänderungen. Teilbearbeitung: Auswirkungen auf den Tourismus. In: Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften (1991bzw.1993): Bestandsaufnahme Anthropogene Klimaänderungen: Mögliche Auswirkungen auf Österreich - mögliche Maßnahmen in Österreich, Dokumentation, Verlag der österreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften.

Fleischhacker, V. (Institut für touristische Raumplanung) (1995 und 1997): Gewinner und Verlierer des Sommertourismus in Österreich 1992 bis 1994 bzw. 1994 bis 1996. Eine Analyse der regionalen und lokalen Angebots- und Nachfragefaktoren sowie Erfassung der Erfolgsfaktoren. Studie im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Arbeit.

Fleischhacker, V. (Institut für touristische Raumplanung) (2001): Kongresstourismus in Österreich 2000/01. Angebot – Nachfrage – Effekte - Konkurrenzsituation. Studie im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Arbeit.

Fleischhacker, V. (Institut für touristische Raumplanung) (2001): Nationalparks und Tourismus in Österreich. Stellung, Struktur und Tendenzen der Tourismuswirtschaft sowie Perspektiven der Tourismusnutzung in den Nationalparkregionen. Studie im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Arbeit.

Fleischhacker, V. (Institut für touristische Raumplanung) (2004): Schutzgebietstourismus in Österreich. Ausgangssituation, Tendenzen, Effekte. Studie im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Land und Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft.

Fleischhacker, V. (Institut für touristische Raumplanung) (2006): Segmentspezifische Bestimmungsfaktoren der Tourismusnachfrage; ITR-Arbeitspapier.

Formayer, H., Eitzinger, J., Nefzger, H., Simic, S., Kromp-Kolb, H. (2001): Auswirkungen einer Klimaveränderung in Österreich: Was aus bisherigen Untersuchungen ableitbar ist. Global 2000 Österreich.

Formayer, H., Haas, P., Matulla, C., Frank, A., Seibert, P. (2005): Untersuchungen regionaler Klimaänderungsszenarien hinsichtlich Hitze- und Trockenperioden in Österreich. Endbericht von StartClim2004.B; in StartClim2004: Analysen von Hitze und Trockenheit und deren Auswirkungen in Österreich. Endbericht, Auftraggeber: BMLFUW, BMBWK, BMWA, Österreichische Hagelversicherung, Österreichische Nationalbank, Umweltbundesamt, Verbund AHP.

Frei, Chr. (2001): Klima im Alpenraum. Extremniederschläge im Wandel; in AOA Bulletin, Nr. 280, S. 30 ff

Grabner-Trieb, R., Gruber, K. (2007): Bruttoregionalprodukt und verfügbares Einkommen der privaten Haushalte in den Bundesländern. In: Statistische Nachrichten 4/2007, S. 357-369.

Heymann, E. (2007): Klimawandel und Branchen: Manche mögen's heiß! In: Deutsche Bank Research; Aktuelle Themen 388.

IPCC (2007): Climate Change 2007 - The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC. ISBN 978 0521 88009-1.

IPK International (1996): Sommer – Urlaub Österreich. Untersuchung am deutschen Markt, Band 2-Dokumentation/Tabellen. Studie im Auftrag des BMWA, Wien

IPK International (2003): Sommer – Urlaub Österreich. Untersuchung am deutschen Markt, Kurzfassung. Studie im Auftrag des BMWA, Wien

Kämpf, R., Weber, K. (2005): Erfolgsfaktoren im alpinen Tourismus; in BAK Basel Economics, seco Publikationen.

Kruschinsky, A. (2007): Klimawandel. Auswirkungen auf den Tourismus. Kurzanalyse 2007; Österreich-Webung, 29 S., Wien

Laimer, P., Öhlböck, P. (2007) : Urlaubs- und Geschäftsreisen im Kalenderjahr 2006. In: Statische Nachrichten 4/2007, S. 343-356.

Muhar, A. et al. (2006) : Trends und Handlungsbedarf im Sommer-Bergtourismus. Studie im Auftrag des BMWA, Wien.

Reclip:more (2007): research for climate protection - model run evaluation. http://systemsresearch.arcs.ac.at/projects/climate/.

Umweltbundesamt (UBA) (Hrsg.) (2005): Klimawandel in Deutschland - Vulnerabilität und Anpassungsstrategien klimasensitiver Systeme. Forschungsbericht 20141253. Bearbeitung: Zebisch, M. et al., PIK Climate Change 08/05, Dessau.

Umweltdachverband (Hrsg.) (2006): Auswirkungen der Klima- und Gletscheränderungen auf den Alpintourismus. Bearbeitung: Behm, M. et al., Wien.

Wolf, M. (2007): Tourismus. In: KLARA – Klimawandel-Auswirkungen, Risken, Anpassung. In: PIK Report (Potsdam-Institut für Klimafolgenforschung), Nr. 99, S. 107-131.

StartClim2006.D2

- Abegg, B. (1996) Klimaänderung und Tourismus. Schlussbericht NFP 31. vdf Hochschulverlag AG an der ETH Zürich.
- Amelung, B., Blazejczyk, K., Matzarakis, A., Viner, D. (eds.) (2004) Climate Change and Tourism: Assessment and Coping Strategies. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. (in Druck).

Bühring, M., Jung, E.G. (1992) UV-Biologie und Heliotherapie. Stuttgart, Hippokrates.

Davies, N.E. (1968) An optimum summer weather index. Weather 23, 305-317.

De Dear, R., Pickup, J. (1999) An outdoor thermal comfort index (OUT_SET*) – Part II – Applications. In: Biometeorology and Urban Climatology at the Turn of the Millenium. In: (ed. by R.J. de Dear, J.D. Kalma, T.R. Oke and A. Auliciems). Selected Papers from the Conference ICB-ICUC'99, Sydney, WCASP-50, WMO/TD No. 1026, 285-290.

De Freitas, C.R. (1990) Recreation climate assessment. Int. J. Climatol. 10, 89-103.

- De Freitas, C.R. (2001) Theory, concepts and methods in climate tourism research. In: A. Matzarakis and C. R. de Freitas (eds). Proceedings of the first international workshop on climate, tourism and recreation. International Society of Biometeorology, Commission on Climate Tourism and Recreation. December 2001. 3-20.
- De Freitas, C.R. (2003) Tourism climatology: evaluating environmental information for decision making and business planning in the recreation and tourism sector. Int. J. Biomet.. 48, 45-54.
- EPA (1999) Guideline for reporting of daily air quality air quality index (AQI). United States Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-454/R-99-010.
- Fanger, P. O. (1972) Thermal comfort. New York, McGraw Hill.
- Harlfinger, O. (1985) Bioklimatischer Ratgeber für Urlaub und Erholung. Gustav Fischer Verlag.
- Höppe, P. (1999) The physiological equivalent temperature a universal index for the biometeorological assessment of the thermal environment. Int.I J.Biomet. 43, 71-75.
- IMBW (1994) Städtebauliche Lärmfibel. Hinweise für die Bauleitplanung. Innenministerium Baden-Württtemberg.
- Jacob, D., U. Andrae, G. Elgered, C. Fortelius, L. P. Graham, S. D. Jackson, U. Karstens, Chr. Koepken, R. Lindau, R. Podzun, B. Rockel, F. Rubel, H.B. Sass, R.N.D. Smith, B.J.J.M. Van den Hurk, X. Yang, (2001) A Comprehensive Model Intercomparison Study Investigating the Water Budget during the BALTEX-PIDCAP Period. Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics 77, 19-43.
- Kaiser, M. (2002) How the weather affects your health. Michelle Anderson Publishing, Melbourne.
- Kiefer, J. (Hrsg.) (1977) Ultraviolettes Strahlen. Berlin, New York, Walter de Gruyter.
- Koch, E., Marktl, W., Matzarakis, A., Nefzger, H., Rudel, E., Schunder-Tatzber, S., Zygmuntowski, M. (2005) Klimatherapie in Österreich. Broschüre zu den Potentialen der Klimatherapie in Österreich. Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Arbeit.
- Lecha, L., Shackleford, P. (1997) Climate services for tourism and recreation. WMO Bulletin 46, 46-47.

- Matzarakis, A. (2001) Die thermische Komponente des Stadtklimas. Wiss. Ber. Meteorol. Inst. Univ. Freiburg Nr. 6, 265 pp.
- Matzarakis, A. (2002) Examples of climate and tourism research for tourism demands. 15th Conference on Biometeorology and Aerobiology joint with the International Congress on Biometeorology. 27th October to 1st November 2002, Kansas City, Missouri, 391-392.
- Matzarakis, A. (2006) Weather and climate related information for tourism. Tourism and Hospitality Planning & Development 3, 99-115.
- Matzarakis, A. (2007) Entwicklung einer Bewertungsmethodik zur Integration von Wetterund Klimabedingungen im Tourismus. Ber. Meteor. Inst. Univ. Freiburg Nr. 16, 73-79.
- Matzarakis A., de Freitas, C.R. (Ed.) (2001) Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Climate, Tourism and Recreation. International Society of Biometeorology, Commission on Climate Tourism and Recreation. December 2001. http://www.mif.unifreiburg.de/isb
- Matzarakis, A., de Freitas, C.R. (2005) Neueste Entwicklungen aus der Tourismus-Klimatologie. Mitt. DMG 1/2005, 2-4.
- Matzarakis, A., Mayer, H. (1996) Another kind of environmental stress: Thermal stress. WHO Colloborating Centre for Air Quality Management and Air Pollution Control, NEWS-LETTERS 18, 7-10.
- Matzarakis, A., Mayer, H. (1997) Heat stress in Greece. Int. J. Biomet. 41, 34-39.
- Matzarakis, A., de Freitas, C., Scott, D., 2004 (eds.): Advances in tourism climatology. Ber. Meteorol. Inst. Univ. Freiburg Nr. 12.
- Matzarakis, A., Karatarakis, N., Sarantopoulos, A. (2005) Tourism climatology and tourism potential for Crete, Greece. Annalen der Meteorologie 41, Vol. 2, 616-619.
- Matzarakis, A., Mayer, H., Iziomon, M. (1999) Heat stress in Greece. Applications of a universal thermal index: physiological equivalent temperature. Int. J. Biomet. 43, 76-84.
- Matzarakis, A., Rutz, F., Mayer, H. (2000) Estimation and calculation of the mean radiant temperature within urban structures. In: Biometeorology and Urban Climatology at the Turn of the Millenium. In: R.J. de Dear, J.D. Kalma, T.R. Oke and A. Auliciems (eds). Selected Papers from the Conference ICB-ICUC'99, Sydney, WCASP-50, WMO/TD No. 1026, 273-278.
- Matzarakis, A., Rutz, F., Mayer, H. (2007) Modelling Radiation fluxes in simple and complex environments – Application of the RayMan model. Int. J. Biomet. 51, 323-334.
- Matzarakis, A., Zygmuntowski, M., Koch, E., Rudel, E. (2004) Mapping the thermal bioclimate of Austria for recreation tourism. In: Matzarakis, A., de Freitas, C., Scott, D. (eds.) Advances in tourism climatology. Ber. Meteorol. Inst. Univ. Freiburg Nr. 12, 10-18.
- Mayer, H., Kalberlah, F., Ahrens, D., Reuter, U. (2002) Analysis of indices for the assessment of the air. Gefahrstoffe-Reinhaltung der Luft 62, 177-183
- Mieczkowski, Z. (1985) The tourism climate index: A method for evaluating world climates for tourism. The Canadian Geographer 29, 220-233.
- Rudel, E., Matzarakis, A., Koch, E. (2005) Potential increase of heat load on humans in a changing climate. World Resource Review 17, 32-44.
- Shackleford, P., Olsson, L.E. (1995) Tourism, climate and weather. WMO Bulletin 44, 239-242.
- TA-Lärm (1968) Technische Anleitung zum Schutz gegen Lärm. Allgemeine Verwaltungsvorschrift über genehmigungsbedürftige Anlagen nach § 16 der Gewerbeordnung.

- UBA (2005) Klimawandel in Deutschland. Vulnerabilität und Anpassunkstrategien klimarelevanter Systeme. - Climate Change 08/05.
- VDI (1985) VDI 2058, Blatt 1, Beurteilung von Arbeitslärm in der Nachbarschaft. Berlin, Beuth Verlag.
- VDI (1993) VDI 3883 Blatt 2, Wirkung und Bewertung von Gerüchen. Ermittlung von Belästigungsparametern durch Befragungen: Wiederholte Kurzbefragung von ortsansässigen Probanden. Berlin, Beuth Verlag.
- VDI (1998) Methoden zur human-biometeorologischen Bewertung von Klima und Lufthygiene für die Stadt- und Regionalplanung, Teil I: Klima. - VDI-Richtlinie 3787 Blatt 2. Berlin, Beuth-Verlag.
- WHO (2002) Global Solar UV Index: A practical guide. WHO.
- WMO (1999) Climate and human health. World Climate News 14, 3-5.
- WTO (2003) Climate Change and Tourism. Proc. of the 1st International Conference on Climate Change and Tourism. WTO.
- Zaninovic, K., Matzarakis, A., Cegnar, T., (2006) Thermal comfort trends and variability in the Croatian and Slovenian mountains. Meteorologische Zeitschrift 15, 243-251.

StartClim2006.D3

Ammer, U. Pröbstl, U. (1991): Freizeit und Natur, Hamburg, Berlin.

Austrian Research Centers (2006): Neusiedler See – Tourismus mit Zukunft, Seibersdorf.

Haider, W., Rasid, H. (2002): Choice modeling for public involvement in environmental assessment (EA): Assessing municipal residents' preferences for water supply options, Environmental Impact Assessment Review 22(4): 337-360.

Haider, W., (2002): Stated Preference & Choice Models - A Versatile Alternative to Traditional Recreation Research. In Arnberger, A., Brandenburg, C., Muhar, A. (ed.): Monitoring and Management of Visitor Flows in Recreational and Protected Areas, Conference Proceedings, 115-121.

Haider, W., Anderson, D.A., Daniel, T.C., Louviere, J.J., Orland, B., Williams, M. (1998): Combining calibrated digital imagery and discrete choice experiments: An application to remote tourism in Northern Ontario. In: Johnston, M.E., Twynam, D. and Haider, W. (Eds.), Shaping Tomorrow's North, Proceedings of an International Conference on Northern Tourism and Recreation, Centre for Northern Studies, Lakehead University, Thunder Bay, ON. Seite 7

Hensher, D.A., Rose, J.M., Greene, W.H. (2005): Applied Choice Analysis. A Primer. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Kaneda, K., Okamoto, T., Natamae, E., Nishita, T. (1991): Photorelistic image synthesis for outdoor scenery under various atmospheric conditions. The visual computer 7: 247–258.

Kretzler, E. (2002): Computer Visualization of Environmental Impacts. In: Buhmann (Hrsg.) Trends in GIS and Virtualization in Environmental Planning and design, Heidelberg: 58-68.

Kromb-Kolb, H., Eitzinger, J., Kubu, G., Formayer, H., Haas, P., Gerersdorfer, T. (2005): Auswirkungen einer Klimaänderung auf den Wasserhaushalt des Neusiedler Sees. Endbericht, Wien.

LOUVIERE, J. J., & WOODWORTH, G. (1983). Design and anlaysis of simulated choice or allocation experiments: An approach based on aggregate data. Journal of Marketing Research, 20: 350-367.

MCFADDEN, D. (1974). Conditional logit analysis of qualitative choice behaviour. In: P. Zamembka (Ed.), Frontiers of Econometrics, 105-142. New York.

Muhar, A. (2001): Three-dimensional Modelling and Visualisation of vegetation for Landscape Simulation. Landscape and Urban planning 54: 5-19.

Opaschowski, H., 1989: Tourismusforschung, Verlag Leske+ Budrich, Opladen, S. 152.

Pröbstl, U. (1989): Auswirkungen des Waldsterbens auf Erholung und Fremdenverkehr in waldreichen Mittelgebirgslandschaften Bayerns. In : Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt 108: 56 –65.

Suda, M. (2003): Die Zeit heilt alle Wunden. In: LWF aktuell, Nr.40/2003: 28-29.

Swoboda, H. G. (1995): Tourismus, Landschaft, Umwelt. Ein Leitfaden zur Erhaltung des Erholungs- und Erlebniswertes der touristischen Landschaft, Österreichischer Gemeindebund, 2. Auflage, Wien.

T-MONA (2004): Der Sommer-Urlauber in Österreich, Wien.

Wöbse, K.H. (2002): Landschaftsästhetik, Stuttgart.

Vermunt, J.K., Magidson, J., 2003. Latent GOLD Choice User's Guide. Statistical Innovations, Belmont, MA.

StartClim2006.F

- Adnot J., P. Waide, P. Riviere, D. Marchio, M. Holmstrom, J. Naeslund, J. Saba, S. Becirspahic, C. Lopes, I. Blanco, L. Perez-Lombard, J. Ortiz, N. Papakonstantinou, P. Doukas, C. Joppolo, C. Casale, G. Benke, D. Giraud, N. Houdant, P. Riviere, F. Colomines, R. Gavriliuc, R. Popecscu, S. Burchiu, B. Georges, R. Hitchin, 2003: Energy Efficiency and Certification of Central Air Conditioners (EECCAC). Study for the D.G. Transportation-Energy (DGTREN) of the Commission of the EU. Final Report, Paris
- Bittermann, W., 2005: Energiebilanzen 1970 (1988) 2004: Dokumentation der Methodik. Statistik Austria, Wien.
- Bittermann, W., 6.6.2007: Persönliche Auskunft
- Cartalis C., A. Synodinou, M. Prodedrou, A. Tsangrassoulis, M. Santamouris, 2001: Modifications in energy demand in urban areas as a result of climate changes: An assessment for the sout-east mediterranean region. In: Energy Conversation and Management 42 (2001) 1647-1656
- Christenson M., H. Manz, D. Gyalistras, 2006: Climate warming impact on degree-days and building energy demand in Switzerland. In: Energy Conversion and Management 47 (2006) 671–686
- Déqué, M., 2007, Frequency of precipitation and temperature extremes over France in an anthropogenic scenario: Model results and statistical correction according to observed values, Glob. Planet. Change, 57, 16-26. doi:10.1016/j.gloplacha.2006.11.030.
- Deutscher Wetterdienst: Die Gradtagszahl. http://www.dwd.de/de/wir/Geschaeftsfelder/ KlimaUmwelt/Leistungen/Statistiken/GTZ.html (Stand: 18.6.2007)
- Dudhia, J., D. Gill, K. Manning, W. Wang, and C. Bruyere, 2004: PSU/NCAR Mesoscale Modeling System Tutorial Class Notes and User's Guide: MM5 Modelling System Version 3, Software Manual, Mesoscale and Microscale Meteorology Division of the NCAR, Boulder.
- Gobiet, A., H. Truhetz, A. Riegler, A climate scenario for the Alpine region, reclip:more project year 3 - WegCenter progress report, Wegener Center, Univ. of Graz, Austria, 2006.

JOANNEUM RESEARCH, 1994: Handbuch für Energieberater, Graz.

- Jungmeier, G., G. Fankhauser, K. Könighofer, J. Spitzer, 1996: GEMIS-Österreich Energetische Kennzahlen im Prozesskettenbereich: Endenergie – Nutzenerige. Joanneum Research, Institut für Energieforschung, Graz.
- Lam J. C., 1998: Climatic and Economic Influences on Residental Electricity Consumption. In: Energy Conversation and Management 39 (1998) 623-629
- Loibl, W., A. Beck, M. Dorninger, H. Formayer, A. Gobiet, W. Schöner, 2006: Kwiss-Programm reclip:more, research for climate protection: model run evaluation, Project year 2 – Report 2005, ARC-Berichte, ARC systems research, Wien, Österreich.
- Roeckner, E., G. Baeuml, L. Bonaventura, R. Brokopf, M. Esch, M. Giorgetta, S. Hagemann, I. Kirchner, L. Kornblueh, E. Manzini, A. Rhodin, U. Schlese, U. Schulzweida, A. Tompkins, 2003: The atmospheric general circulation model ECHAM5. Part 1: Model description, Report 349, Max Planck Institute for Meteorology (MPI), Hamburg.
- Sailor D. J, 2001: Relating residential and commercial sector electricity loads to climate evaluating state level sensitivities and vulnerabilities. In: Energy 26 (2001) 645-657
- Sailor D. J., A. Pavlova, 2003: Air conditioning market saturation and long-term response of residential cooling energy demand to climate change. In: Energy 28 (2003) 941–951
- Statistik Austria: Energiebilanzen 1970 (1988) 2004
- Steinacker, R., B. Bica, C. Lotteraner, M. Suklitsch, 2005: Mittelkarten der Temperatur der Niederungen – Eine klimatologische Auswertung im Alpenraum (Klimaatlas). IMGW – Institut für Meteorologie und Geophysik der Universität Wien
- Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik: Tagesmitteltemperaturen für die Station Graz-Flughafen 1961-2004

Figures and Tables

Figures

Fig.	1: Monthly mear	temperature thresholds in Austria (1971-2000). Temperature	
-	criteria for	Phlebotomus mascittii: at least 18°C July mean and at least 0°C	
	January me	ean 18	5

- Fig. 2: Monthly mean temperature thresholds in Austria (1971-2000). Temperature criteria for *Phlebotomus neglectus* and *Phlebotomus perfiliewi*: at least 20.7°C July mean and –2°C January mean. Potential autochthonous cases of leishmaniosis were found on places marked in green.-----15
- Fig. 3: Counties (orange) and communities (red) affected by grub damage in the year 2003. Counties without response are coloured in grey, whereas counties without reported damages or missing data are coloured in blue. ------ 17

Fig. 4: Precipitation anomalies (in %) of the period 1.128.8.2003 in relation to normal precipitation (100%), averaged from the precipitation sums from 1.128.8. of the years 1961-1990. Precipitation deficits are visualized as a percentage of normal precipitation < 35% in red, 36-45% in orange, 46-55% in yellow, 55- 65% in light green and > 66% green. Areas damaged by grubs on a community level in 2003 are outlined in black
Fig. 5: Mean annual cycle of the mixing height calculated using radiosonde data from the Wien Hohe Warte station for the periods 1975 to 1990 (red) and 1991 to 2006 (green), as a running average over 30 days
Fig. 6: Heating and cooling degree days: Expected changes in Vienna, 200m (left) and Lienz, 673 m (right) 21
Fig. 7: Increase in cooling degree days from 1981-1990 to 2041-2050 22
Fig. 8: Decrease in heating degree days from 1981-1990 to 2041-2050 22
Fig. 9: Bioclimate diagram (PET-frequencies) for Vienna for 1950 - 2005 and number of days with PET-threshold values 24
Fig. 10: Precipitation frequencies in Vienna for 1950 – 2005 24
Fig. 11: CTIS-diagram for Vienna based on the A1B-climate scenario for the period 1961–1990. Colours denote months per decade (%), the description of the factors is given in the full text 24
Fig. 12: CTIS-diagram for Vienna based on the A1B-climate scenario for the period 2021–2050. Colours denote months per decade (%), the description of the

- Fig. 13: First Assessment of the sensitivity and effect of climate change on the market segments of Austrian summer tourism. The characteristic positions of the individual market segments within this portfolio analysis result from the average scores of the evaluated dimensions "sensitivity" (0.6 to 2.86) and "effect of climate change" (-0.2 to 2.4). Different sizes of the portfolio squares result from derived threshold values of the sensitivity and effect stages. The three different sizes of market segments reflect their diverse importance and the number of over night stays of the individual respectively. ------ 27
- Fig. 14: Change of the tourism-relevant climate parameter in the "Kärntner Seenregion" by the year 2050 (Regionalmodell MM5, reclip:more, 2007).---- 27
- Fig. 15: Change of tourism-relevant climate parameters in the OÖ-Sbg. Seenregion by the year 2050 (Regionalmodell MM5, reclip:more, 2007)------- 28
- Fig. 16: Seenregion Kärnten average daily temperature maximum observed and scenario (Regionalmodell MM5, reclip:more, 2007) ------ 28
- Fig. 17: Example Visualisation for landscape scenarios of Lake Neusiedl------ 30

Tables

Tab. 1: Correlation between climate parameters and the number of overnight stays insummer for the two test regions for the period 2000 to 2006 ------ 26

Annex

Subprojects of StartClim2003

These reports can be found on the StartClim2006-CD-ROM as well as in the StartClim-webpage (www.austoclim.at/startclim/)

StartClim.1: Quality control and statistical characteristics of selected climate parameters on the basis of daily values in the face of Extreme Value Analysis

Central Institute of Meteorology and Geodynamics Wolfgang Schöner, Ingeborg Auer, Reinhard Böhm, Sabina Thaler

- StartClim.2: Analysis of the representativeness of a data collected over a span of fifty years for the description of the variability of climatic extremes Central Institute of Meteorology and Geodynamics Ingeborg Auer, Reinhard Böhm, Eva Korus, Wolfgang Schöner
- StartClim.3a: Extreme Events: Documentation of hazardous events in Austria such as rock avalanches, floods, debris flows, landslides, and avalanches Institute of Forest and Mountain-Risk Engineering, BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Dieter Rickenmann, Egon Ganahl
- StartClim.3b: Documentation of the impact of extreme weather events on agricultural production ARC Seibersdorf research Gerhard Soja, Anna-Maria Soja
- StartClim.3c: Meteorological extreme Event Data information system for the Eastern Alpine region - MEDEA Federal Environment Agency, Martin König, Herbert Schentz, Johann Weigl IIASA, Mathias Jonas, Tatiana Ermolieva
- StartClim.4: Development of a method to predict the occurrence of extreme events from large-scale meteorological fields Institute of Meteorology and Physics BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Andreas Frank, Petra Seibert
- StartClim.5: Testing statistical downscaling techniques for their applicability to Extreme Events in Austria Institute of Meteorology and Physics, BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Herbert Formayer, Christoph Matulla, Patrick Haas GKSS Forschungszentrum Geesthacht, Nikolaus Groll
- StartClim.6: Adaptation strategies for economic sectors affected heavily by extreme weather events: Economic evaluation and policy options Austrian Humans Dimensions Programme (HDP-A) Department of Economics, Karl-Franzens-Universität Graz Karl Steininger, Christian Steinreiber, Constanze Binder, Erik Schaffer Eva Tusini, Evelyne Wiesinger
- StartClim.7: Changes in the social metabolism due to the 2002-floodings in Austria: case study of an affected community Institute of Interdisciplinary Studies of Austrian Universities (IFF) Willi Haas, Clemens Grünbühel, Brigitt Bodingbauer

- StartClim.8: Risk-management and public welfare in the face of extreme weather events: What is the optimal mix of private insurance, public risk pooling and alternative transfer mechanisms Department of Economics, Karl-Franzens-Universität Graz Walter Hyll, Nadja Vetters, Franz Prettenthaler
- StartClim.9: Summer 2002 floods in Austria: damage account data pool Center of Natural Hazards and Risk Management (ZENAR), BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Helmut Habersack, Helmut Fuchs
- StartClim.10: Economic aspects of the 2002-Floodings: Data analysis, asset accounts and macroeconomic effects Austrian Institute of Economic Research (WIFO) Daniela Kletzan, Angela Köppl, Kurt Kratena
- StartClim.11: Communication at the interface science education Institute of Meteorology and Physics, BOKU - University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Ingeborg Schwarzl Institute of Interdisciplinary Studies of Austrian Universities (IFF) Willi Haas
- StartClim.12: Developing an innovative approach for the analysis of the August 2002 Flood Event in comparison with similar extreme events in recent years Department of Meteorology and Geophysics, University of Vienna Simon Tschannett, Barbara Chimani, Reinhold Steinacker
- StartClim.13: High-resolution precipitation analysis Department of Meteorology and Geophysics, University of Vienna Stefan Schneider, Bodo Ahrens, Reinhold Steinacker, Alexander Beck
- StartClim.14: Performance of meteorological forecast models during the August 2002 floods

Central Institute of Meteorology and Geodynamics Thomas Haiden, Alexander Kann

StartClim.C: Design of a long term Climate-Climate-Impact Research Program for Austria

Institute of Meteorology and Physics, University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Helga Kromp-Kolb, Andreas Türk

StartClim.Reference database:

Implementation of a comprehensive literature data base on climate and climate impact research as a generally accessible basis for future climate research activities

Institute of Meteorology and Physics, University of Natural Resources and Applied Life Sciences Patrick Haas

Subprojects of StartClim2004

These reports can be found on the StartClim2006-CD-ROM as well as in the StartClim-webpage (www.austoclim.at/startclim/)

StartClim2004.A:	Analysis of heat and drought periods in Austria: Extension of the daily StartClim data record by the element vapour pressure Central Institute of Meteorology and Geodynamics Ingeborg Auer, Eva Korus, Reinhard Böhm, Wolfgang Schöner
StartClim2004.B:	Investigation of regional climate change scenarios with respect to heat waves and dry spells in Austria Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Herbert Formayer, Petra Seibert, Andreas Frank, Christoph Matulla, Patrick Haas
StartClim2004.C:	Analysis of the impact of the drought in 2003 on agriculture in Aus- tria – comparison of different methods ARC Seibersdorf research Gerhard Soja, Anna-Maria Soja Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Josef Eitzinger, Grzegorz Gruszczynski, Mirek Trnka, Gerhard Kubu, Herbert Formayer Institute of Surveying, Remote Sensing and Land Information, BOKU Werner Schneider, Franz Suppan, Tatjana Koukal
StartClim2004.F:	Contiunation and further development of the MEDEA event data base Federal Environment Agency

Martin König, Herbert Schentz, Katharina Schleidt IIASA Matthias Jonas, Tatiana Ermolieva

StartClim2004.G: "Is there a relation between heat and productiviy?"

A project at the interface between science and education Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Ingeborg Schwarzl, Elisabeth Lang, Erich Mursch-Radlgruber

Subprojects of StartClim2005

These reports can be found on the StartClim2006-CD-ROM as well as in the StartClim-webpage (www.austoclim.at/startclim/)

StartClim2005.A1a: Impacts of temperature on mortality and morbidity in Vienna

Medical University of Vienna, Centre for Public Health, Institute of Environmantal Hygiene Hanns Moshammer, Hans-Peter Hutter Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Andreas Frank, Thomas Gerersdorfer Austrian Federal Intitute of Health Care Anton Hlava, Günter Sprinzl Statistics Austria, Barbara Leitner

StartClim2005.A1b: Nocturnal cooling under a changing climate

Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Thomas Gerersdorfer, Andreas Frank, Herbert Formayer, Patrick Haas Medical University of Vienna, Centre for Public Health, Institute of Environmantal Hygiene Hanns Moshammer Statistics Austria, Barbara Leitner

StartClim2005.A4: Impacts of meteorological extreme events on safety of drinking water supply in Austria

Institute of Sanitary Engineering and Water Pollution Control, BOKU Reinhard Perfler, Mario Unterwainig Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Herbert Formayer

StartClim2005.C2: Studies on the distribution of tularaemia under the aspect of climate change

Gesellschaft für Wildtier und Lebensraum – Greßmann & Deutz OEG Armin Deutz HBLFA Raumberg Gumpenstein, Agricultural Research and Education Centre

Thomas Guggenberger

StartClim2005.C3a: Impacts of climate change on agricultural pests and antagonists in organic farming in Eastern Austria

Bio Forschung Austria Bernhard Kromp, Eva Maria Grünbacher, Patrick Hann Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Herbert Formayer,

StartClim2005.C3b: Risk Analysis of the establishment of the Western Flower Thrips (Frankliniella occidentalis) under outdoor conditions in Austria as a result of the Climate change.

The Austrian Agency für Health and Food Safety, AGES Andreas Kahrer Institute of Meteorology, BOKU Herbert Formayer,

StartClim2005.C5: An allergenic neophyte and its potential spread in Austria – range dynamics of ragweed (Ambrosia artemisiifolia) under influence of climate change

VINCA, Vienna Institute for Nature Conservation & Analysis Ingrid Kleinbauer, Stefan Dullinger Federal Environment Agency Franz Essl, Johannes Peterseil

StartClim2005.F: GIS-sustained simulation of diminishing habitats of snow grouse, black grouse, chamois and capricorn under conditions of global warming and heightening forest limits

Joanneum Research Heinz Gallaun, Jakob Schaumberger, Mathias Schardt HBLFA Raumberg-Gumpenstein Thomas Guggenberger, Andreas Schaumberger, Johann Gasteiner Gesellschaft für Wildtier und Lebensraum - Greßmann & Deutz OEG Armin Deutz, Gunter Greßmann